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Our profile

Perilya Limited is an Australian 
base metals mining and 
exploration company, focused 
on the production of zinc, lead 
and silver at its Broken Hill 
Operation in NSW and at its 
Flinders Project in SA. For more 
details, visit www.perilya.com.au.
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The past financial year was an extremely 
difficult period for Perilya and disappointing 
for you as shareholders.  

The 2007/08 financial year progressed 
against a backdrop of reducing metal prices, 
rising operational costs and less than ideal 
productivity at Broken Hill.

In response to this challenging environment, 
the Board in February 2008 initiated a 
strategic review of the entire Broken Hill 
Operation, in a bid to improve productivity 
and financial results, to support the 
sustainability of operations during a 
prolonged period of low metal prices. 

In February 2008, the Board appointed Mr Paul 
Arndt as Executive General Manager Operations 
to oversee performance improvements at 
the Broken Hill Operation. Mr Arndt brings 
a range of skills and qualities well suited to 
the role, including a steadfast and disciplined 
approach to addressing key business drivers.

Mr Arndt and his team were instrumental in 
delivering a 15% increase in production in 
the second half of 2008 as well as significant 
reductions in direct operating costs at the 
Broken Hill Operation.  

Resizing the Broken Hill 
Operation, Exploration and 
Corporate
Despite these achievements, continued 
volatility and falling metal prices in the 
second half of the period necessitated some 
difficult decisions which, though necessary, 
were taken with sincere regret.

In August 2008, we announced the resizing 
of the Broken Hill Operation, exploration 
and corporate activities, which involved a 
reduction in both production and, sadly, 
our workforce.

These operational changes are aimed at 
ensuring the Broken Hill Operation maintains 
a production level that is financially viable 
and allows the operation to weather a 
prolonged period of low metal prices. 

Chairman’s letter

2



Perilya Limited 2008 Concise Annual Report

3

Under the resized operating plan, ore 
production has been reduced from 1.8 to 
0.95 million tonnes per annum, which is 
expected to produce approximately 55,000 
tonnes of contained zinc and 50,000 tonnes 
of contained lead. 

In conjunction with the resizing, Perilya closed-
out its hedge book realising $60.3 million in 
cash. The hedge book was closed to realise its 
inherent financial value and to strengthen the 
Company’s balance sheet in order to allow 
the Broken Hill Operation to remain viable for 
a two-to-three year period of low metal prices.

Following the resizing programme, the 
Broken Hill Operation is well positioned 
to re-establish increased production and 
profitability in the future when metal prices 
and margins increase.

2008 Financial Results
Perilya recorded a disappointing financial 
result for the 2008 financial year, mainly 
reflecting weaker zinc and lead prices, which 
fell by 50% and 42% respectively during 
the period under review. The Company also 
recognised a significant once-off impairment 
write-down totalling $188.2 million (pre-tax) 
following the resizing of the Broken Hill 
Operation, as detailed in the Report on 
Operations and Director’s Report.

In addition, the Company’s financial 
performance was adversely influenced by 
increasing cost challenges in the areas 
of treatment charges and freight and 
exchange rates.

Total shareholder returns, comprising share 
price performance and dividends, were 
negative and the share price performed 
below share market indices.

Health, Safety and Environment
Health, safety and environmental 
management continue to be important areas 
of focus and are a fundamental requirement 
for our business.

Perilya continued to perform solidly in terms 
of its HSE performance: the details are 
provided on page 10.

During the year the Company has continued to 
strengthen its safety efforts through a number 
of initiatives. The primary initiative, which 
focuses on visible leadership in safety, saw 
the introduction of targeted employee safety 
interactions across the business. Importantly, 
our HSE management systems have continued 
to improve during the year.

Perilya recognises the importance of 
environmental management and the need to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions and during 
the year initiated a number of initiatives in the 
areas of emissions and rehabilitation.

CBH Unsolicited Offer
On 2 October 2008, CBH Resources Limited 
(CBH) announced its intention to make a 
takeover offer to acquire all of the shares 
in Perilya.

CBH’s offer is unsolicited and proposes to 
offer CBH shares for Perilya shares. Until CBH 
lodges a Bidder’s Statement your Board is not 
in a position to assess whether there is any 
merit in the offer. Perilya Shareholders are 
advised to take no action until the Board has 
had an opportunity to consider the Bidder’s 
Statement and make a recommendation.

Further communications will be made with 
shareholders in accordance with timetables 
laid down in the applicable legislation.

Outlook for 2009

The Company’s performance in 2008 
reflected the challenges the Company 
faced including lower metal prices, a strong 
Australian Dollar and spiraling input costs.

The management team’s mandate is to 
stabilize the resized Broken Hill Operation 
and to reposition it for future growth. 

As we start the new financial year we are 
confident that the most difficult decisions 
have already been taken to address and 
enhance the Company’s prospects during 
this low metal price environment, to reduce 
costs and ensure the financial viability of 
the operation, as well as ensuring that the 
interest of shareholders are protected for 
the long-term.

The focus moving forward is on:

• executing efficiently and safely the 
resizing of the Broken Hill Operation

• increasing the profit margins of our 
Broken Hill Operation

• extending the life of the Broken Hill 
Operation in a sustainable manner

• maintaining flexibility to rapidly increase 
production in response to market price 
demands and economic conditions

• leverage the value of the surplus 
capacity of the infrastructure at Broken 
Hill to pursue commercial arrangements 
with third parties that would allow for 
processing of external ore sources

• implementing a prudent capital 
management program after taking 
into account the needs of the resized 
operation.

On behalf of the Board, I thank all 
employees past and present for their efforts 
during the year and our shareholders for 
their support of the Company.

Patrick O’Connor 
Executive Chairman
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Financial review

Perilya recorded a net loss after tax (NLAT) 
of $140.2 million, inclusive of one-off 
impairment losses of $188.2 million (pre-
tax), for the year ended 30 June 2008. 
Excluding the effect of one-off items, the 
Company’s underlying net loss after tax was 
$22.1 million.

The results reflect the challenging period of 
the past 12 months that saw metal prices fall 
significantly giving rise to Perilya’s recent 
decision to resize the Broken Hill Operation 
to focus on a lower production and cost 
profile. Details on the resizing of the Broken 
Hill Operation are set out in the Report on 
Operations on page 6.

Perilya experienced improved sustainable 
production in the second half of the 
financial year; however, this was offset 
by significant cost pressures experienced 
during the year, and the sharp decline and 
volatility in the price of zinc and lead and 
the strong Australian dollar. During the year, 
zinc and lead prices fell by 50% and 42% 
respectively, in Australian dollar terms. 

In light of these challenges and the need to 
ensure the financial viability of the Company 
going forward, the Board has adopted 
a conservative financial management 
approach manifest in the recent resizing of 
the Broken Hill Operation and the closure 
of the hedge book; the result being that 
the operation is exposed to the current 
depressed spot metal prices. At 30 June 
2008, this resulted in significant impairment 
write-downs of $188.2 million.

The Board believes that the operational 
changes implemented at the Broken Hill 
Operation will enable Perilya to reduce its 
operating costs and maintain financially 
viable production levels at the operation for 
at least the next two-to-three years at current 
metal prices without significant compromise 
to the long-term life of the mine. These 
operational changes will also maintain the 
Company’s ability to re-establish increased 
production, profitability and extend the life 
of mine beyond the current plan, when metal 
prices and margins increase in the future.

Sales
Sales revenues from zinc, lead and silver 
concentrates decreased by 35.3% to 
$230.5 million (compared to $356.3 million 
for the previous financial year), the result 
of a 50% and 42% decrease in the average 
price of zinc and lead respectively. During the 
financial year, an average price of US$1.19 
per pound of payable zinc was realised, 
compared to the previous year’s US$1.47 
per pound of payable zinc. The average USD 
exchange rate realised during the financial 
year was $0.83 (30 June 2007: $0.75).  

Costs
Total cash costs of production of $178 million 
were 12% higher in 2007/08. Depreciation 
and amortisation costs were $48.3 million, up 
$17.0 million on the previous corresponding 
period, reflecting higher charges from the 
Southern Operations and North Mine. 

Cash Flow
Closing cash on hand as at 30 June 2008, 
was $26.5 million (30 June 2007: $81.0 
million). During the year, cash flows from 
operating activities (before tax and interest) 
were $15.8 million, compared with 
$150.6 million in the previous corresponding 
period, reflecting the lower metal prices 
received for our concentrates. 

At year end and as a result of current 
volatility in world financial markets, the 
company reclassified $40.0 million of cash 
held in commercial paper to ‘current assets 
- available for sale financial assets’ and 
booked an impairment write down 
of $9.8 million on these investments. 
These investments continue to meet all 
principal and interest payments.

Subsequent to the end of the year and in 
conjunction with the resizing of the Broken 
Hill Operation, Perilya closed-out its hedge 
book, realising $60.3 million in cash to 
further strengthen the Company’s cash 
balance. Details on the hedge book closure 
are set out below.

4



Perilya Limited 2008 Concise Annual Report

5

Capital expenditure inclusive of mine 
development of $77.8 million was 
$15.8 million higher than for the previous 
corresponding period as a result of the 
development of the Beltana open pit 
zinc oxide project in South Australia. 

Gearing and Net Debt
Total debt at year end was $26.0 million, 
compared to $15.7 million for the previous 
corresponding period, reflecting a 
conservative gearing ratio (debt/debt+equity) 
of 17.6%.

Subsequent to the end of the year, Perilya 
repaid $10.0 million in short-term debt, leaving 
$16.0 million remaining, which is primarily 
related to mobile equipment. The gearing ratio 
reduced to 10.8%.

In these times of volatile financial markets, 
the Company’s focus is on maintaining 
this low level of debt and gearing.

Revenue Protection and 
closure of hedge book

During the financial year, Perilya stepped 
up its revenue protection strategies by 
purchasing AUD call options and USD put 
options over approximately 50% of forecast 
lead sales to June 2010. 

The purpose of purchasing the USD lead 
put options and the AUD call options was to 
secure a minimum achievable price, while 
maintaining upside exposure to a rising lead 
price and/or a weakening Australian dollar. 
These options effectively established a floor 
price for the Company’s lead concentrates 
for 2009 and 2010 at an average price of 
US$0.99 and US$0.86 per pound of lead 
at an average exchange rate of $0.82 and 
$0.89 respectively. At year end the lead 
price had fallen to US$0.79 per pound and 
the exchange rate had risen to US$0.95.

As a result of the revenue protection put in 
place during the year and the corresponding 
fall in metal prices at year end, the market-
to-market value of the Company’s hedge 
book was in-the-money by A$84.4 million, 
compared to the previous period of out-of-
the-money by A$105.1 million. 

In conjunction with the resizing and 
subsequent to the end of the year, Perilya 
closed-out its hedge book, realising A$60.3 
million in cash. The hedge book was closed 
to realise its inherent financial value and to 
strengthen the Company’s balance sheet 
during this period of low metal prices.

The closure of the hedge book now places 
the future of the Broken Hill Operation on 
a spot price basis. Perilya’s future financial 
returns will reflect the cash received for its 
concentrates in the market. 

As a consequence of the closure of the 
Company’s hedge book, its future hedging 
policy will be restricted to Quotation Period 
“QP” hedging (i.e. hedging of product sales as 
they occur) and the use of options contracts to 
manage the Company’s revenue protection. 

Markets Conditions
Zinc

During the period, the zinc price dropped 
43% to US$1,903 per tonne or US$0.86 per 
pound (30 June 2007: US$3,338 per tonne 
or US$1.51 per pound), while zinc stocks 
increased to 153,625 tonnes. 

Lead

The lead price, after rising rapidly in the early 
part of the period, dropped 34% to US$1,736 
per tonne or US$0.79 per pound (30 June 
2007: US$2,647 per tonne or US$1.20 per 
pound). LME stocks rose 126% during the 
period, from 45,075 tonnes to 101,900 tonnes 
at year end.  
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Broken Hill Operation

Perilya’s Broken Hill Operation in NSW 
includes the Southern Operations, the North 
Mine and Potosi Exploration Decline, with 
a 2.8 million tonne concentrator located 
on the Southern Operations. Zinc and lead 
concentrate produced is railed to the port 
of Port Pirie in South Australia where the 
zinc concentrate is shipped to Korea Zinc in 
South Korea, and the lead concentrates are 
processed at Nystar’s smelter in Port Pirie.

The Broken Hill Operation has a long history of 
zinc and lead mining and resource discovery 
through exploration. Perilya has current 
tenement holdings over more than 1,200 
square kilometres. The Broken Hill Operation 
has historically been one of the top 20 
producers of lead and zinc concentrates in the 
world, producing more than 200 million tonnes 
of ore throughout its 125-year history. Perilya 
has been endowed with well-developed 
infrastructure as a result of the region’s long 
mining history. This infrastructure, situated 
at the heart of the Company’s Southern 
Operations, has the capacity and flexibility 
to operate at lower and higher volumes and 
with a variety of ore sources. 

In June 2008, Perilya achieved the significant 
milestone of six years of successful operation 
of the Broken Hill mine. Since acquisition, 
Perilya has mined 11.1 million tonnes of ore 
and shipped 733,000 tonnes of zinc metal, 
along with 351,000 tonnes of lead from 
this operation.

resizing of the Broken Hill Operation 

As announced on 21 August 2008, after 
an extensive review Perilya prudently 
decided to resize its Broken Hill Operation 
in response to the current low metal price 
environment and cost pressures. 

The resizing of the Broken Hill Operation 
will enable the Company to focus on a 
reduced tonnage, lower-cost operation at its 
Southern Operations, with the North Mine 
and Potosi exploration decline placed on 
care and maintenance.

Under the revised operating plan, future 
ore production at Broken Hill will reduce 
from 1.8 to 0.95 million tonnes per annum, 
which is expected to produce approximately 
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to utilise the full potential of the Broken 
Hill concentrator with ore sources from the 
Southern Operations, Potosi, the North Mine 
and Flying Doctor.

strategic Direction

With the resizing of the Broken Hill Operation 
due for completion in the September 2008 
quarter, Perilya is focused on sustaining 
production, albeit at a lower rate, for the 
long-term at this operation, while retaining 
the flexibility to rapidly increase production 
and extend the life of mine, should metal 
prices improve in the near future. 

The Company will continue to review other 
opportunities in the region to take advantage 
of the surplus capacity of the Broken Hill 
concentrator, which is a key component to 
unlocking value and improved profitability in 
a higher metals price environment.

Metal Production & sales

Production results at the Broken Hill Operation 
were variable during the year. The first half 

was impacted by mine sequencing issues 
and seismicity late in the December quarter. 
The second half recorded an improved level 
of performance at the Broken Hill Operation, 
with production increasing 15% on the first 
half. The improvements in production in the 
second half were attributable to improvements 
in development, equipment utilisation and 
mine planning, as well as higher zinc grades. 
Improvement initiatives, particularly in the 
areas of mine planning and scheduling, led 
to increases in capacity in the second half 
and less variability in the mining schedule. 
These productivity improvements position the 
Broken Hill Operation with a new improved 
level of productivity, which will carry forward 
and significantly assist in re-positioning the 
operation as its resizes it operating plan.

Production for the year ending 30 June 
2008, finished in line with market guidance 
issued in February 2008, with 91,295 tonnes 
of contained zinc and 52,412 tonnes of 
contained lead produced. 

PrODUCtiOn stAtistiCs
BRokEn Hill  RESizED H1 H2 12 MontHS  12 MontHS
PRoDuCtion   FoRECASt * 07/08 07/08 07/08  06/07

Ore        

Total Ore Mined (kt)  950.0     821.5      967.0      1,788.5  1,718.1 

Total Ore Treated (kt)  950.0     813.6      931.8      1,745.4   1,751.7 

Zinc       

Grade (%)  6.2 5.6  5.9  5.8  5.8 

Concentrate (kt)  110.0 83.0      100.1  183.1  186.1 

Contained Zinc (kt)  55.0 41.0        50.3  91.3  92.1 

Payable Zinc (kt)  47.0 34.4        42.2  76.6   77.2 

Lead       

Grade (%)  5.3 3.7  3.4  3.5  4.0 

Concentrate (kt)  68.0 35.7        36.7  72.4  82.8 

Contained Lead (kt)  50.0 25.8        26.6  52.4  60.5 

Payable Lead (kt)  47.5 24.5        25.3  49.8   57.5 

silver        

Grade (g/t)  43.4 39.8  35.3  37.4  41.7 

Contained Silver (Moz)  1.395     0.745     0.737        1.482         1.679 

* The resizing of the Broken Hill Operation, as announced on 21 August 2008, will focus on a lower annual tonnage 
profile through the mining of remnant pillars and stopes with low development requirements in the Southern 
Operations until metal prices improve. It is expected that production can be sustained at these levels for the next 
two-to-three years at current metal prices.

55,000 tonnes of contained zinc and 50,000 
tonnes of contained, lead annually.

The resizing at the Broken Hill Operation is 
prudent and positions the operation for the 
future. Perilya is confident that the Broken 
Hill Operation can be sustained to maintain 
a level of continuity of production that is 
financially acceptable at current metal 
prices for at least the next two-to-three 
years without significant compromise to the 
longer-term life of the mine.

Under the new operating plan, which 
commenced in September 2008, future ore 
production at the Southern Operations will 
utilise stopes that are currently available or 
require minimal development. The operation 
will bring forward the mining of high-grade 
pillars, which were originally planned to be 
mined in the latter years of the Life of Mine 
Plan for the Southern Operations.

Importantly, the new production plan is 
based on the re-sequencing of mining 
areas rather than a short-term high-grade 
approach, which could undermine the 
long-term value of the resources. 

Regrettably, the lower production rate has 
necessitated a reduction in our workforce 
of over 400 employees.  Final numbers, for 
all operating, development and exploration 
activities are expected to settle at around 
350 employees. The affected employees will 
be provided with their full entitlements and 
supported through their job transition. 
The decision to reduce our workforce has 
not been taken lightly and we are mindful of 
the impact on all individuals, their families 
and the Broken Hill community. 

The new operating plan will also see an 
ongoing focus on cost control and further 
significant improvements in reducing direct 
cash operating costs.

Perilya will continue with the permitting of 
the Flying Doctor open-pit resource, as well 
as mine planning work to assess the potential 
of the North Mine and North Mine Deeps 
mineral inventories. These efforts will assist in 
positioning the operation for the future.

Should metal prices increase in the future, 
Perilya will be in a strong position to 
extend the life of the mine and to ramp-up 
production at the Broken Hill Operation and 
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During the year, the average price received 
per pound of zinc was US$1.19 (30 June 2007: 
US$1.47 per pound of zinc). On the back of 
lower metal prices, the cash operating margin 
for the year reduced 78% to US$0.16 cents per 
pound zinc (30 June 2007: US$0.72). Net cash 
costs for the year increased 37% to US$1.03 
cents per pound zinc (30 June 2007: US$0.75), 
largely on the back of higher treatment and 
freight costs and lower lead prices, which are 
treated as a credit against cash costs.

Despite the significant level of production 
improvement in the second half and falling 
metal prices, Perilya’s Board and management 
remain focused on reducing costs, improving 
operational performance at Broken Hill and 
conserving cash on hand. The Company is 
confident that the cost reduction programs 
initiated in the March 2008 quarter, coupled 
with the resizing of the Broken Hill Operation, 
will deliver future value to the business and 
ultimately lower the Company’s future cash 
operating cost per pound of zinc profile.

Development – to extend the life of mine

During the year, Perilya commenced work on 
evaluating a number of significant additional 
target areas for potential inclusion in 
the mineral inventory for its Southern 
Operations and North Mine. Infill drilling on 
mineral inventory not included in the current 
JORC-compliant Resource also progressed 
during the period, together with work on 
near mine extensional targets. This work 
will assist in re-positioning the Company to 
rapidly scale-up production at Broken Hill 
when metal prices improve in the future.

As a result of Perilya’s considerable 
past development efforts, a number of 
substantial short and long-term near 
mine growth options are now available for 
development, creating a flexible pipeline 
of projects and extending the current life of 
mine, including Potosi, North Mine, Flying 
Doctor, Pinnacles region and Reliance.

Should metal prices increase in the future 
these developments together with resources 
at the Southern Operation, will position 
the Company to extend the life of mine at 
Broken Hill beyond the current plan.

north Mine

During the year, production at the North 
Mine continued to plan, with a total of 
104,000 tonnes of ore produced. 

Important work on the study of the North Mine 
Deeps project was completed in December 
2007. This in-depth study provided valuable 
information on the potential of the North Mine 
Deeps and North Mine Upper areas between 
the 12 and 23 levels. As a result of this work, 
a detailed geological assessment of this 
area identified significant additional mineral 
inventory, which has the potential to increase 
the North Mine resource in the future.  

Pre-feasibility study results conclude that 
North Mine Deeps could be developed 
with access from the level 23; using 
existing infrastructure and refurbishing 
the No. 3 Shaft as the preferred lower-
risk development option. The study also 
confirmed the North Mine Deeps Mineral 
Resource of 3.7 million tonnes at 11.3% zinc, 
13.5% lead and 219 g/t silver.

At year end the Company had extended 
the decline in the North Mine to 12 level; 
however, as a result of depressed metal 
prices and the corresponding resizing of the 
Broken Hill Operation, the North Mine has 
now been placed on care and maintenance.

Potosi exploration Decline

During the year, a total of 46,200 tonnes of 
ore was mined from development and trial 
stoping activities at the Potosi Exploration 
Decline (30 June 2007: Nil tonnes). 

At year end the Potosi Exploration Decline 
had progressed to 1,302 metres beyond the 
portal entrance, with development ore being 
successfully processed at the Broken Hill 
concentrator.

Subsequent to the end of the year and as 
a result of depressed metal prices and the 
corresponding resizing of the Broken Hill 
Operation, the Potosi Exploration Decline 
has been placed on care and maintenance. 
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Flying Doctor

Flying Doctor is located approximately five 
kilometres north of Perilya’s Broken Hill 
Southern Operations and two kilometres 
north of the Company’s Northern Operations.

In April 2008, a new resource was completed 
at Flying Doctor with a 60% increase in the 
mineral resource estimate to 1.5 Mt at 
3.2% zinc, 4.0% lead and 44 g/t silver. 

Subject to approvals and metal prices, 
Flying Doctor has the potential to strengthen 
Perilya’s Broken Hill production profile, 
providing an additional source of ore feed 
to the Broken Hill concentrator for three-
to-fours years. Perilya is currently seeking 
regulatory approval for this project. 

Pinnacles region

The Pinnacles region shows great promise 
for the discovery of a large underground 
system. During the year, ongoing drilling 
defined new resources at the Henry George 
and 11:30 deposits and mineral targets at 
Sams Deed and Esmeralda.

In June 2008, new initial resources were 
defined for the Henry George and 11:30 
deposits in the Pinnacles region, as follows:

• An Inferred Resource of 1.3 Mt at 
7.7% zinc at Henry George Deposit for 
100,000 tonnes of contained zinc.

• An Inferred Resource of 0.2 Mt at 12.2% 
zinc at 11:30 Deposit for 27,000 tonnes 
of contained zinc.

Flinders project

Flinders provides Perilya with a high-grade 
niche zinc silicate product that will enable 
the Company to take full advantage of the 
current tight market conditions. 

During the year, the Company successfully 
established a market for blended zinc 
silicate ore from its Beltana mine. The 
current stockpiles from Beltana, together 
with the Reliance deposit, will provide an 
excellent opportunity for Perilya to create 
significant value when market conditions 
improve in the future.

Beltana Mine and sales

The Beltana mine is located 520 kilometres 
north of Adelaide in the Flinders Ranges of 
South Australia. 

In February 2008, Perilya successfully 
completed open-pit mining and on-site 
crushing to produce a direct shippable high-
grade zinc oxide ore. At the end of mining 
a total of 316,400 tonnes of zinc silicate 
ore had been mined and stockpiled at an 
approximate average grade of 32% zinc, for 
a total of 101,385 tonnes of contained zinc. 

During the period November 2007 to June 
2008, Perilya successfully completed eight 
shipments of Beltana blended intermediate-
grade ore, sold for a total of 34,400 tonnes 
of contained zinc. Sales of the remaining 
stockpiled ore are expected to be completed 
over the coming two years.

Average cash operating costs for the period 
were approximately US$0.85 per pound 
payable zinc. This includes all off-site costs, 
including treatment charges.

reliance Deposit (70-85% owned)

An updated resource model for Reliance 
was completed in June 2008, along with 
preliminary economic work on the project, 
which resulted in a largely Indicated Resource 
of 308,000 tonnes at 28% zinc. The intent is 
to take this deposit through to permitting to 
enable mining to occur as market prices and 
economic conditions allow.
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Mount Oxide

The Mount Oxide deposit is located in the 
Mt Isa Region of northern Queensland, some 
25 kilometres north of Aditya Birla Minerals 
Limited’s Mount Gordon Mine.

Following completion of drilling in November 
2007, Perilya announced an 80% increase in 
the JORC-Code compliant Mineral Resource 
at Mount Oxide to 15.5 million tonnes at 
1.3% copper, 0.05% cobalt and 9 g/t silver for 
203,000 tonnes of contained copper, 7,750 
tonnes of contained cobalt and 4.2 million 
ounces of silver at a 0.2% copper cut-off. 

In April 2008, Perilya re-commenced drilling at 
Mount Oxide, with over 11,500 metres of drilling 
has been completed to date in a program that 
is scheduled to continue through to October 
2008, subject to the onset of the wet season. 
This program has delivered some outstanding 
results, including intercepts of 22m at 6.3% 
copper from 258m, 31m at 6.2% copper from 
346m, 23m at 8.9% copper from 395m, 17m 
at 4.2% copper from 248m, and 12m at 15.3% 
copper (uncut) and 161 g/t silver from 345m.

Two diamond rigs are currently scheduled to 
complete drilling in October 2008, with further 
results pending. These excellent results 
demonstrate good continuity of mineralisation 
below the area of the current JORC-Code 
compliant resource, in which high-grade zones 
remain open at depth. Initial metallurgical 
testwork on Mount Oxide samples has yielded 
90% copper recoveries, 50% - 60% cobalt 
recoveries and 75% silver recoveries for a 
range of economic-grade samples tested.

sale of 100% of Mount Oxide to  
Chalice Gold Mines

Subsequent to the end of the year, Perilya 
reached agreement with Chalice Gold Mines 
Limited (“Chalice”) for Chalice to acquire 
Perilya’s 100% interest in the Mount Oxide 
Project, for consideration comprising 200 
million Chalice ordinary shares. The sale is 
subject to Chalice shareholder approval, 
which is expected in November 2008.

With approximately $10 million in cash 
reserves, Chalice is well funded to progress 
the current and future drilling programs, 
which has the objective of increasing the 
Mineral Resource estimate for the project. 

Ranau, Malaysia

The agreement with Chalice for the 
acquisition of the Mount Oxide Project 
includes an option to acquire Perilya’s 100% 
interest in the Perilya Malaysia Sbn Bhd, 
which holds a 50% interest in the Tampang 
Porphyry Copper-Gold Project in Sabah, 
Malaysia, which is located 65 kilometres 
from the state capital of Kota Kinabalu. 
The exploration tenements for this project 
are subject to a renewal application. 

Other non-core assets

Subsequent to the end of the year, 
Perilya initiated a review of its other non-
core assets, including a 10% interest in 
the Kanown West Gold Joint Venture, held 
by Barrick Gold; a 90% reducing to 60% 
interest in the Rockhampton Gold-Copper 
Joint Venture in Townsville, Queensland; a 
10% shareholding in Silver Lake Resources, 
which was part of the consideration for the 
sale of the Company’s Daisy Milano Gold 
Mine in November 2008; in other listed and 
unlisted investments.

Resources and reserves

Due to the resizing of the Broken Hill 
Operation, which commenced in September 
2008 an update on the Company’s 
Resources and Reserves at Broken Hill 
and Flinders project is still in progress. 
Further details will be announced to ASX 
and posted to the Company’s website once 
the update to the reserves and resources 
has been completed.

Health and safety

Perilya is committed to ensuring the highest 
standards of occupational health and safety 
management across its operations. The 
Company believes that all personnel share the 
responsibility for ensuring a safe workplace.

Health and safety remained a major focus 
for Perilya throughout 2008, as the Company 
continued to improve its safety performance. 

Perilya’s HSE strategy is focused on visible 
leadership, encouraging responsible 
behaviour and empowering employees 
with responsibility for health, safety and 
the environment. Perilya’s Board and 
management meet regularly to review 
HSE performance, as measured by leading 
and lagging indicators. The Board and 
management continue to undertake  
regular safety reviews and interactions 
with employees. 

Perilya has maintained steady safety 
performance throughout the year with the 
all injury frequency rate (AIFR) falling by 
3% from 108.1 in 2007 to 105.1 in 2008.  
The number of injuries where time was lost 
or medical treatment was required stayed 
constant at 33 with the combined frequency 
rate falling from 15.9 to 14.5 due to greater 
employee exposure time. The reporting of 
near misses and minor injuries continues 
to be encouraged to ensure that hazards 
are identified, properly addressed and 
managed.  This performance is underpinned 
by a range of proactive behaviours that is 
seeing an increase in task observations 
and work place inspections, one-on-one 
conversations around safety in the work 
place, and the reporting of incidents that 
result in damage or process losses.

A significant highlight during the reporting 
period was the achievement of 1.4 million 
man hours lost time injury free, which 
was achieved on the back of continued 
development of safety behaviours and the 
ongoing development of the Company’s 
HSE management system.
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During the year, Perilya continued to pursue 
a range of health and safety initiatives, 
including wellbeing programs to monitor 
health related exposures; 4WD driver 
education programs; stress and fatigue 
management program; and a 3TC risk 
management tool to assess hazards before 
commencing work.

Environment

Perilya is committed to operating in a 
responsible manner to reduce the impact of 
its mining and processing operations on the 
environment, while maintaining environmental 
biodiversity and facilitating the rehabilitation 
of areas mined and occupied.

The Company records all environmental 
incidents and corrective actions taken in 
consultation with the local community and 
the Environmental Protection Agency.

The main environmental issues identified 
at Perilya’s operations relate to water use, 
greenhouse gas emissions, dust control, noise 
control, land rehabilitation and biodiversity.

In 2008, Perilya initiated a review of 
greenhouse gas emissions from its 
operations to formulate management 
strategies that will reduce the Company’s 
carbon footprint. The review resulted in 
a reduction in fuel usage across Perilya’s 
operations and monitoring of high-use 
electrical and energy equipment on-site.

Community

Perilya has a long-standing relationship with 
the Broken Hill community and is committed 
to ongoing community consultation through 
the planning and approvals processes 
and into the operational phases of its 
operations, including mine closures and 
land rehabilitation planning. 

Perilya supports targeted community 
programs, delivering financial and in-kind 
benefits to the community in which 
it operates.

People

Perilya recognises that a strong relationship 
with its employees is critical to the 
achievement of its business objectives. 
Through the Company’s employee share 
ownership plan, all Perilya employees 
are Perilya shareholders. At year end our 
employees owned 2.5% of the Company and 
ranked in the top five shareholders. 

Regrettably, the recently completed re-sizing 
of the Broken Hill Operation means that 
manning levels are being reduced to around 
350 employees.  

As a sign of our commitment to the many 
hard working employees who have been 
made redundant, the Company has worked 
closely with those employee affected by 
the downsizing and with the Broken Hill 
Council to mitigate any short-term effects 
and to build a sustainable future for the 
operation and the community. Perilya is 
also working closely with the New South 
Wales State Government to ensure the 
continuity of operations in Broken Hill and 
to identify opportunities to support those 
valued employees affected by the resizing of 
Perilya’s Broken Hill Operation. 

The decision to reduce our workforce has 
not been taken lightly and we are mindful of 
the impact upon individuals, their families 
and the community. We firmly believe that 
the resizing is the best option to ensure 
continuity of operations and to preserve 
the mine for the long-term benefit of the 
community and our shareholders.

11
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Five-year performance summary

Production
 Unit of MeaSUre 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04

Zinc (contained) tonnes 91,300 92,100 144,100 132,000 140,400

Lead (contained) tonnes 52,400 60,500 74,800 61,100 54,200

Silver ‘000 ounces 1,482 1,679 2,100 1,900 1,700

Gold ounces - 24,779 27,298 4,827 -

Financial
 Unit of MeaSUre 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 aifrS 2004/05 aGaaP 2004/05  2003/04

Net profit/(loss) after tax $’000 (140,235) 82,483 67,006 (6,110) (4,713) 12,887

Revenue $’000 273,124 386,890 344,969 193,156 191,111 157,726

Cash flow from operating activities $’000 (9,922) 132,068 166,039 30,161 30,161 8,712

Cash and cash equivalents $’000 77,832 173,047 135,608 21,610 21,610 40,695

Total assets $’000 307,734 449,029 341,964 186,856 187,735 193,401

Borrowings $’000 26,005         15,651   7,070 12,625 12,625 35,789

Shareholder equity $’000 147,610 149,273 131,421 116,275 115,353 98,824

Exploration and evaluation expenditure $’000 22,331 18,619  7,750 19,267 19,267 13,571

Capital expenditure $’000 77,815 65,694  44,545 48,083 48,083 29,040

Shareholder returns
 Unit of MeaSUre 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 aifrS 2004/05 aGaaP 2004/05  2003/04

Basic earnings per share cents (72.1) 43.3 35.6 (3.6) (2.8) 8.0

Dividends per share    cents 1.0 11.0  5.0 - - -

Dividend pay out ratio % - 25.4 14.0  -  -  -

Dividend yield % - 2.5 2.0  -  -  -

Issued capital - shares 30 June ‘000 196,883 196,276 191,047 186,522 186,522 164,020

Share price 30 June $ 0.74 4.37 2.39 0.68 0.68 0.87

Market capitalisation  $m 145.7 857.7 456.6 126.8 126.8 142.7

Total shareholder return - 1 year % (83.0) 87.0 250.0  (21.8) (21.8) 98.0

Total shareholder return - 3 year rolling % 11.6 417.8 423.5  (8.2)  (8.2) 187.0

12



Perilya Limited 2008 Concise Annual Report

13

Concise financial report

Contents

Corporate governance 14

Directors’ report 22

Independent auditor’s report 45

Consolidated income statements 46

Consolidated balance sheet 47

Consolidated statements of 
changes in equity 48

Consolidated cash flow statement 49

Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements 50

Directors declaration 61

Independent auditor’s report 62

ASX additional information 64

Corporate directory 65

Relationship of the concise financial report 
to the full financial report

The concise financial report is an extract from 
the full financial report for the year ended 
30 June 2008. The financial statements and 
specific disclosures included in the concise 
financial report have been derived from the 
full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be 
expected to provide as full an understanding 
of the financial performance, financial position 
and financing and investing activities of 
Perilya Limited and its subsidiaries as the 
full financial report. 

Further financial information can be obtained 
from the full financial report contained in 
the annual report which, along with the 
auditor’s report, will be sent to members on 
request, free of charge. 

To obtain a copy of the full financial report and 
the auditor’s report thereon, please call: 
+ 61 8 6210 2000 (within Australia 08 6210 2000) 
or email perilya@perilya.com.au and a copy will 
be forwarded to you. Alternately, you can access 
both the full financial report and the concise 
annual report via the investor information 
section on our website at www.perilya.com.au.

Perilya Limited 
ABN: 85 009 193 695
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Corporate governance

This statement reports on Perilya’s key governance framework, 
principles and practices as at 26 September 2008. These principles 
and practices are reviewed regularly and revised as appropriate to 
reflect changes in law and best practice in corporate governance.

ASX principles of good corporate governance
Perilya, as a listed entity, must comply with the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cwth) (“Corporations Act”), the Australian Securities Exchange 
Limited (“ASX”) Listing Rules (“ASX Listing Rules”) and other 
Australian laws.

ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3 requires ASX listed companies to report 
on the extent to which they have followed the Principles of Good 
Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations (“ASX 
Principles”) released by the ASX Corporate Governance Council. 
The ASX Principles require the Board to consider carefully the 
development and adoption of appropriate corporate governance 
policies and practices founded on the ASX Principles.

Compliance with ASX principles of good 
corporate governance
Details of the company’s compliance with the ASX Principles are 
set out below. A checklist, cross referencing the ASX Principles to 
the relevant section of this statement and the remuneration report, 
is provided on pages 20 to 21 of this report and published on the 
company’s website at www.perilya.com.au.

1. The Board of directors

a) Board composition and expertise

The Board has an expansive range of relevant industry experience, 
financial and other skills and expertise to meet its objectives.

The current Board composition comprises one Executive Chairman 
and four independent non-executive directors. Details on each of the 
director’s backgrounds including experience, knowledge and skills 
and their status as an independent or non-independent director are 
set out on pages 25 to 26 of this report.

The Board considers that the executive and non-executive directors 
collectively bring the range of skills, knowledge and experience 
necessary to direct the company.

In assessing the composition of the Board, the directors have regard 
to the following policies:

• the Chairman should be non-executive and independent;

• the role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
should not be filled by the same person;

• the CEO should be a full-time employee of the company;

• the majority of the Board should comprise directors who are both 
non-executive and independent; and

• the Board should represent a broad range of qualifications, 
experience and expertise considered of benefit to the company.

On 5 February 2008, Mr O’Connor was appointed Executive 
Chairman, to undertake a strategic review and oversee any corporate 
transactions. The review concluded on 31 March 2008 and at the same 

time Mr Jubber, CEO and Managing Director stepped down from his 
position. Mr O’Connor’s role as Executive Chairman was subsequently 
extended to 30 June 2008 and then subsequent to the end of the year 
a further extended term to 30 November 2008 was agreed.

The position of CEO remains unfilled at this present time. During 
these times of depressed metal prices and whilst the Broken Hill 
operations are resized and all corporate office functions scaled back, 
the Board feels it is prudent that Mr O’Connor take an executive role 
until such time as the organisation is repositioned. The Board intends 
to review this position by the end of November 2008. Accordingly, the 
company is not in compliance with ASX Principles 2.2 and 2.3 
[see ASX Principles Compliance Statement on pages 20 and 21].

b) Board role and responsibilities

The roles and responsibilities of the Board are formalised in the 
Board Charter. The Board Charter defines in detail the matters that 
are reserved for the Board and its committees, and those that the 
Board has delegated to management. The central role of the Board is 
to oversee and approve the company’s strategic direction, to select 
and appoint a CEO, to oversee the company’s management and 
business activities and report to shareholders.

In addition to matters required by law to be approved by the Board, 
the following powers are reserved to the Board for decision:

• strategy - providing strategic oversight and approving strategic 
plans and initiatives;

• board performance and composition – evaluating the 
performance of non-executive directors, and determining the 
size and composition of the Board as well as recommending to 
shareholders the appointment and removal of directors;

• leadership selection – evaluating the performance of, and selection 
of, the CEO and those executives reporting directly to the CEO;

• corporate responsibility – considering the social, safety, ethical 
and environmental impacts of Perilya’s activities, and setting 
policy and monitoring compliance with safety, corporate and 
social policies and practices;

• financial performance – approving Perilya’s annual operating 
plans and budget, monitoring management, financial and 
operational performance;

• financial reports to shareholders – approving annual and half-
year reports and disclosures to the market that contain, or relate 
to, financial projections and statements as to future financial 
performance or changes to the policy or strategy of the company; 
and

• establishing procedures – ensuring that the Board is in a position 
to exercise its power and to discharge its responsibilities as set 
out in the Board Charter;

The Board also recognises its responsibilities to Perilya’s employees, 
the communities and environments within which Perilya operates 
and, where relevant, other stakeholders.

Responsibility for management of Perilya’s business activities is 
delegated to the CEO who is accountable to the Board.

The Board Charter is available in the corporate governance section of 
Perilya’s website.
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c) Chairman

The Board elects one of the independent non-executive directors 
to be Chairman. The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the 
Board, for the efficient organisation and conduct of the Board’s 
function and for the promotion of relations between Board members 
and between Board and management that are open, cordial and 
conducive to productive co-operation.

Mr O’Connor was initially appointed as a Non-executive Chairman 
and on 5 February 2008 he became the Executive Chairman for the 
reasons outlined above. He has been a director and the Chairman 
of the Board since 1 February 2006. As Mr O’Connor’s Executive 
Chairman role includes, acting as Chairman of the Board and carrying 
out those functions normally delegated to a Chief Executive Officer, 
the company is not in compliance with ASX Principles 2.2 and 2.3 at 
the date of this report. It is expected that Mr O’Connor will revert to a 
Non-executive Chairman role at the end of November 2008.

d) Director independence

The Board has approved a policy on independence of directors, a 
copy of which is available in the corporate governance section of 
Perilya’s website.

The policy provides that the independence of a director will be 
assessed by determining whether the director is independent of 
management and free of any business or other relationship that 
could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived 
to materially interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and 
independent judgement.

The test of whether a relationship or business is material is based on 
the nature of the relationship or business and on the circumstances 
and activities of the director. Materiality is considered from the 
perspective of Perilya, the persons or organisations with which the 
director has an affiliation and from the perspective of the director. 
Materiality thresholds are considered by the Board from time to time. 
The Board considers that:

• a material customer is a customer of Perilya which accounts for 
more than 5% of Perilya’s consolidated gross revenue;

• a supplier is material if Perilya accounts for more than 5% of the 
supplier’s consolidated gross revenue;

• a substantial shareholder of Perilya is someone who holds 
greater than 5% of the voting capital of Perilya; and

• service on the Board for a period exceeding 10 years is a period 
which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with a director’s ability to act in the best interests of 
the company.

In the event that one or more of these thresholds is exceeded, the 
Board then focuses on whether or not in their view that impacts 
materially on the independent judgement of the director.

On appointment, each director is required to provide information for 
the Chairman to assess and confirm their independence as part of 
their consent to act as a director.

The Chairman has considered the associations of each of the non-
executive directors in office and considers that all non-executive 
directors are considered independent.

e) Directors’ retirement and re-election

Perilya’s Constitution states that at each annual general meeting 
(“AGM”) one of its directors (excluding the CEO/Managing Director 
and any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy) and any director 
who has held office for three or more years since their last election 
must retire.

At least one non-executive director must stand for election at each AGM.

Any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy since the date of 
the previous AGM must submit themselves to shareholders for 
election at the next AGM. Directors who retire as required may 
offer themselves for re-election by shareholders at the next AGM. 
Re-appointment of directors retiring by rotation or filling a casual 
vacancy is not automatic.

f ) Board succession planning

The Board in conjunction with the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee reviews the size and composition of the Board and the mix 
of existing and desired competencies across members from time to 
time. Criteria considered by the directors when evaluating prospective 
candidates are contained in the Board’s Charter and more fully detailed 
in a Procedure for Selection and Appointment of New Directors. 

g) Board performance evaluation

The Board undertakes ongoing self-assessment and review of 
performance of the Board, committees and individual directors 
annually. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for determining 
the process for evaluating Board performance.

During the year the Board completed a review, which resulted in the 
retirement of two non-executive directors and the appointment of 
two additional non-executive directors. The Board will periodically 
undertake a formal review process, which includes written surveys 
of directors, one-on-one interviews with directors, the CEO and 
Company Secretary.

The Chairman’s performance is reviewed each year by the other 
members of the Board.

h) Nominations and appointment of new directors

Recommendations for nomination of new directors are considered by 
the Remuneration and Nominations Committee and approved by the 
Board as a whole.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviews director 
appointments having regard to the candidate’s commercial 
experience, skills and other qualities. External consultants may be 
used from time to time to access a wide base of potential directors.

i) Professional advice

Directors may, in carrying out their company related duties, seek 
external professional advice. If external professional advice is sought 
a director is entitled to reimbursement of all reasonable costs where 
such a request for advice is approved by the Chairman. In the case of 
a request made by the Chairman, approval is required by at least two 
Board members.
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j) Conflicts of interest

Directors are required to disclose any actual or potential conflict or 
material personal interests on appointment as a director and are 
required to keep these disclosures up to date.

In the event that there is, or may be, a conflict between the personal 
or other interests of a director, then the director with an actual or 
potential conflict of interest in relation to a matter before the Board 
does not receive the Board papers relating to that matter. When the 
matter comes before the Board for discussion, the director withdraws 
from the meeting for the period the matter is considered and takes 
no part in the discussion or decision making process.

k) Terms of appointment, induction training and continuing education

All new directors are provided with a formal letter of appointment setting 
out the key terms and conditions of the appointment, including duties, 
rights and responsibilities, the time commitment envisaged and the 
Board’s expectations regarding their involvement with committee work.

A formal induction is provided to all new directors. It includes 
comprehensive meetings with the CEO, key executives and 
management, and information on key corporate and Board policies, 
visits to the company’s principal operations and completion of 
compulsory safety inductions.

All directors are expected to maintain the skills required to discharge 
their obligations to the company. Directors are encouraged to 
undertake continuing professional education and where this involves 
industry seminars and approved education courses, this is paid for 
by the company where appropriate.

l) Directors’ remuneration

Details of remuneration paid to directors (Executive Chairman 
and non-executive) are set out in section 11.8.5 on page 43 of the 
remuneration report.

m) Board meetings

The Chairman sets the agenda for each meeting in conjunction with 
the executive management and the Company Secretary. Any director 
may request additional matters be added to the agenda. Members of 
senior management attend meetings of the Board by invitation and 
sessions are also held for non-executive directors to meet without 
management present.

Copies of Board papers are circulated in advance of the meetings in 
either electronic or hard copy form. Directors are entitled to request 
additional information where they consider the information is 
necessary to support informed decision making.

The Board works to an agenda encompassing periodic reviews of 
Perilya’s operating business units, recurring statutory obligations, 
business approvals, strategy and other responsibilities identified in 
the Board Charter.

n) Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Darryl Edwards. Mr Edwards joined Perilya 
in March 2006 with responsibility for management and delivery 
of company secretary, legal and governance advice and support 
to the Perilya Board, executive and business. Mr Edwards is a 

qualified Chartered Secretary (FCIS) with over 15 years experience 
and a Western Australian branch council member of the Chartered 
Secretaries Australia.

Responsibilities for the secretarial function include providing advice 
to directors and executives on corporate governance and regulatory 
matters, recording minutes of directors meetings, developing 
Perilya’s corporate governance framework and giving effect to the 
Board’s decisions. All directors have access to advice from the 
Company Secretary.

In February 2008, Mr Edwards was selected as the winner of the 
prestigious Governance Professional of the Year with an ASX-listed 
company other than an ASX 100 company award. The Governance 
Professional of the Year awards was created by the peak professional 
body, Chartered Secretaries Australia, to recognise individuals who, 
in the opinion of the judges, personify the highest standards of 
governance practice in Australia. The awards recognise the increasing 
role that governance professionals play in overall organisational 
performance.

2. Board committees

a) Board committees and membership

The Board has currently two standing committees to assist in the 
discharge of its responsibilities. These are the:

• Audit and Risk Management Committee; and

• Remuneration and Nominations Committee. 

In addition to these two committees, the Board had operated with 
a Health Safety and Environment (HSE) committee, until 30 August 
2008, when the HSE committee was suspended, with all duties and 
responsibilities for HSE reverting to the full Board and included as 
standing agenda item for every Board meeting.

The charters of all Board committees detailing the roles and duties 
of each are available in the corporate governance section of Perilya’s 
website. All Board committee charters are reviewed at least annually.

At the date of this report the membership of each Board committee 
is as follows:

Audit and Risk Management Committee Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee

Peter Harley (Chair) Karen Field (Chair)
Karen Field Peter Harley
Phil Lockyer Phil Lockyer

Committee members are chosen for the skills, experience and other 
qualities they bring to the committees. The executive management 
attends, by invitation, board and committee meetings.

All papers considered by the standing committees are available on 
request to directors who are not on that committee.

Following each committee meeting, generally at the next Board meeting, 
the Board is given a verbal update by the Chair of each committee.

In addition, minutes of all committee meetings are provided to 
all directors.

Corporate governance (continued)



Perilya Limited 2008 Concise Annual Report

17

The Company Secretary provides secretariat services for each 
committee.

Other committees are convened to address major transactions or 
other matters calling for special attention.

b) Audit and Risk Management Committee

The role of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is to assist 
the Board to meet its oversight responsibilities in relation to the 
company’s financial reporting, internal control structure, financial 
and operational risk management procedures and the internal 
and external audit function. In doing so, it is the Committee’s 
responsibility to maintain free and open communication between the 
Committee, the external auditors and the management of Perilya.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is required to have a 
minimum of three members composed of independent non-executive 
directors.

The external auditors, the CEO, the Executive Chairman, the 
General Manager Finance and the Group Financial Controller attend 
Committee meetings by invitation. The Committee meets at least four 
times per year.

c) Remuneration and Nominations Committee

The role of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee is to assist 
the Board by reviewing and approving Perilya’s remuneration policies 
and practices and the appointment of non-executive directors to the 
Board. The Committee’s responsibilities include:

• assess the necessary and desirable competencies of Board 
members;

• reviewing Board succession plans and Board performance;

• reviewing the company’s remuneration framework, which is used 
to attract, retain and motivate employees to achieve operational 
excellence and create value for shareholders;

• reviewing the remuneration packages and incentive schemes 
for the CEO and senior executives, to establish rewards, which 
are fair and responsible, having regard to the financial results 
of the group, individual performance and general remuneration 
conditions;

• reviewing the performance and succession planning for the CEO 
and senior executives; and

• reviewing Perilya’s corporate governance policies and practices.

Independent remuneration consultants are engaged by the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee to ensure that Perilya’s 
remuneration and reward practices are consistent with market 
practice.

The CEO or the Executive Chairman attends Committee meetings by 
invitation. The Committee meets at least two times per year.

3. Audit governance and independence

a) Approach to audit and governance

The Board is committed to the basic principles that:

• Perilya’s financial reports represent a true and fair view;

• Perilya’s accounting practices are comprehensive, relevant and 
comply with applicable accounting standards and policies; and 
the external auditor is independent and serves shareholder’s 
interests.

b) External auditor relationship

Perilya’s independent external auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(“PwC”). PwC was appointed by shareholders at the 1988 annual 
general meeting in accordance with the Corporations Act. During the 
year the Audit and Risk Management Committee embarked on a review 
of the external audit function and invited a number of audit firms to 
submit proposals for future audit services. As a result of the review 
PricewaterhouseCoopers has been retained as the company’s auditor.

The Board has adopted an External Auditor Policy which requires 
rotation of the audit partner at least every five years, prohibits the 
reinvolvement of a previous audit partner in the audit service for two 
years following their rotation, and provides that a former partner of 
the audit firm, or member of the audit team, may only be recruited 
into a position as a director or senior employee of Perilya after the 
expiry of at least two years.

Furthermore, in accordance with the External Auditor Policy, the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee oversees detailed External Auditor 
Guidelines covering the terms of engagement of Perilya’s external 
auditor. The guidelines include provisions directed to maintaining 
the independence of the external auditor and in assessing whether 
the provision of any non-audit services by the external auditor that 
may be proposed is appropriate. Such provisions are referenced 
to the Code of Ethics published by the International Federation of 
Accountants (“IFAC”).

The External Auditor Guidelines contain a set of controls which 
address threats to the independence of the external auditor 
including, in particular, any threat which may arise by reason of self 
interest, self-review, advocacy, familiarity or intimidation (all terms 
defined by the IFAC’s Code of Ethics). The External Auditor Guidelines 
classify a range of non-audit services which are considered not 
acceptable for provision by the external auditor.

c) Attendance of auditor at the AGM

Perilya’s external auditor attends the AGM and is available to answer 
questions from shareholders on:

• the conduct of the audit;

• the preparation and content of the auditor’s report;

• the accounting policies adopted by Perilya in relation to the 
preparation of the financial statements; and

• the independence of the auditor in relation to the conduct of 
the audit.
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4. Controlling and managing risk

a) Approach to risk management

The Board and senior executives are responsible for overseeing the 
implementation of the company’s Risk Management Policy.

The company’s approach to risk management is based on the 
identification, assessment, monitoring and management of material 
risks embedded in its business and management systems. This 
framework is based on the Australian Standards for Risk Management.

During the year, the Audit and Risk Management Committee in 
conjunction with management commenced a review of the company’s 
risk management framework systems and approved a new risk 
management plan. The risk management plan will focus on reviewing 
Perilya’s risk management policies and practices for managing 
strategic operational, and financial risks.

The executive management team is responsible for implementation 
of the Board approved risk management strategy and developing 
policies, processes and procedures to identify risks and mitigation 
strategies in Perilya’s activities.

b) CEO and CFO assurance on corporate reporting

The Board receives monthly reports about the financial condition and 
operational results of Perilya and its controlled entities.

The CEO and General Manager Finance provide, at the end of each six 
monthly period, a formal statement to the Board confirming that the 
company’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, and the group’s financial condition and operational results 
have been prepared accordance with the relevant accounting standards.

The statement also confirms the integrity of the company’s financial 
statements and notes to the financial statements, is founded on 
a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and 
control which implements the policies approved by the Board, and 
that Perilya’s risk management and internal compliance and control 
systems, to the extent they relate to financial reporting, are operating 
efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

5. Promoting ethical and responsible behaviour

a) Health and safety

The Board has approved a Health and Safety Policy consistent 
with Perilya’s commitment to ensuring the highest standards of 
occupational health and safety management at its operations. The 
health, safety and wellbeing of Perilya’s people, contractors, suppliers, 
visitors and host communities is a key value for the company.

Perilya’s safety management system was during the year re-designed 
to be consistent with the Australian/New Zealand Standard 4801 for 
safety management. The standard provides a solid framework to guide 
all aspects of safety management at Perilya’s operations, including the 
occupational health and safety charter and statements; departmental 
safety management plans; inductions and site security policy.

Perilya’s systems are regularly reviewed and submitted for internal 
and external audit to ensure continuing compliance.

Perilya’s philosophy is that all personnel share the responsibility for a 
safe workplace. A range of occupational health programs are in place 
to monitor the wellbeing of employees. Perilya’s fitness for work 
policy is designed to further promote wellbeing and a safe workplace 
by addressing drug, alcohol and fatigue related issues. Perilya’s 
safety performance is closely and carefully monitored by the Board.

b) Codes of conduct

The Board has approved a Code of Conduct for Directors and a Code 
of Conduct for Employees which describes the standards of ethical 
behaviour that directors and employees are required to maintain.

Compliance with the Code of Conduct by Directors and employees 
will also assist Perilya in effectively managing its operating risks and 
meeting its legal and compliance obligations, as well as enhancing 
Perilya’s corporate reputation.

The Code of Conduct describes Perilya’s requirements on matters 
such as confidentiality, conflicts of interest, sound employment 
practices, compliance with laws and regulations and the protection 
and proper use of Perilya’s assets.

A copy of each Code of Conduct is available in the corporate 
governance section of Perilya’s website.

c) Concern reporting and whistleblowing

The Board has approved a Whistleblower Policy which documents 
Perilya’s commitment to maintaining an open working environment 
in which employees are able to report instances of unsafe work 
practices, unethical, unlawful or undesirable conduct without fear of 
intimidation or reprisal.

A copy of the Whistleblower Policy is available in the corporate 
governance section of Perilya’s website.

d) Share trading policy

Perilya’s Securities Trading Policy is binding on all directors and 
employees. This policy provides a brief summary of the law on insider 
trading and other relevant laws, sets out the restrictions on dealing 
in securities by people who work for, or are associated with, Perilya 
and is intended to assist in maintaining market confidence in the 
integrity of dealings in the company’s securities.

The policy stipulates that the only appropriate time for a director or 
employee to deal in the company’s securities is when he or she is not in 
possession of ‘price sensitive information’ that is not generally available 
to the share market. A director wishing to deal in the company’s 
securities may only do so after first having advised the Chairman of his 
or her intention. A senior executive wishing to deal must first notify the 
CEO. Confirmation of any dealing must also be given by the director or 
senior executive within two business days after the dealing.

In the case of other employees, contractors, consultants and 
advisers, there is no notification requirement.

Directors and senior executives’ dealings in the company’s securities 
are also subject to specified closed periods, which are set out in the 
company’s Share Trading Policy or as otherwise determined by the 
Board from time to time.

A copy of the company’s Share Trading Policy is available in the 
corporate governance section of Perilya’s website.

Corporate governance (continued)
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6. Remuneration framework
Details of Perilya’s remuneration framework are included in the 
remuneration report.

7. Corporate responsibility and sustainability
Perilya aims to produce positive outcomes for all stakeholders 
in managing its business and to maximise financial, social and 
environmental value from our activities.

In practice this means having a commitment to transparency, fair 
dealing, responsible treatment of employees and customers and 
positive links into the community.

Sustainable and responsible business practices within Perilya 
are viewed as an important long term driver of performance and 
shareholder value. Through such practices Perilya seeks to reduce 
operational and reputation risk and enhance operational efficiency 
while contributing to a more sustainable society.

Perilya accepts that the responsibilities on the Board and 
management, which flow from this approach, go beyond strict legal 
and financial obligations. In particular, the Perilya Board seek to take 
a practical and broad view of directors’ fiduciary duties, in line with 
stakeholders’ expectations.

8. Continuous disclosure
Perilya is committed to maintaining a level of disclosure that meets 
the highest standards and provides all investors with timely and 
equal access to information.

Perilya’s Continuous Disclosure Policy reinforces Perilya’s 
commitment to ASX continuous disclosure requirements and outline 
management’s accountabilities and the processes to be followed 
for ensuring compliance. The policy also describes Perilya’s guiding 
principles for market communications.

A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available in the 
corporate governance section of Perilya’s website.

9. Shareholder communications and participation
Perilya is committed to giving all shareholders comprehensive, timely 
and equal access to information about its activities so that they can 
make informed decisions. Similarly, prospective new investors are 
entitled to be able to make informed investment decisions when 
considering the purchase of shares in Perilya.

A wide range of communication approaches are employed including 
direct communications with shareholders and presentations to 
shareholders at the company’s Annual General Meeting. Publication 
of all relevant company information, including the company’s Annual 
Report is in the Investor Information section of Perilya’s website at 
www.perilya.com.au. Shareholders are also given the opportunity to 
receive information in print or electronic format.

Perilya’s Shareholder Communication Policy provides that the 
company will communicate effectively with its shareholders and 
give shareholders ready access to balanced and understandable 
information about Perilya. The way it does this includes:

• ensuring that financial reports are prepared in accordance with 
applicable laws;

• ensuring the disclosure of full and timely information about 
Perilya’s activities in accordance with the general and 
continuous disclosure principles of the ASX Listing Rules and 
the Corporations Act 2001. This includes reporting on a quarterly 
basis the activities and prospects of the company;

• the Chairman and CEO reporting to shareholders at the 
company’s annual general meeting;

• placing all ASX announcements (including quarterly reports and 
financial reports) on Perilya’s website as soon as practicable 
following release; and

• ensuring that reports, notices of meeting and other shareholder 
communications are prepared in a clear and concise manner.

A copy of the Shareholder Communication Policy is available in the 
corporate governance section of Perilya’s website.
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	 	 ASX	corporAte	governAnce	council’S	beSt	prActice	recommendAtionS	 reference	 compliAnce

 Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

 1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board and those 
  delegated to senior executives and disclose those functions. 1b Comply

 1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of 
  senior executives Remuneration report Comply

 1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 1a, 1b 
  reporting on Principle 1 Remuneration report Comply 

 Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value

 2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent directors. 1a, 1d Comply

 2.2 The chair should be an independent director. 1a, 1c Not in compliance

 2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised 
  by the same individual 1a, 1b Not in compliance

 2.4 The Board should establish a nomination committee. 1h, 2c Comply

 2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance 
  of the board, its committees and individual directors 1g, 2a Comply

 2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
  reporting on Principle 2 Directors’ report Comply

 Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

 3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code 5a,5b Comply 
  or a summary of the code as to:

  • the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s 
   integrity; and

  • the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations 
   and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders

  • the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 
   investigating reports of unethical practices. 

 3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning trading in company 1j, 5d Comply 
  securities by directors, senior executives and employees and disclose 
  the policy or a summary of that policy. 

 3.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 5a, 5b, 5c, 5d Comply 
  reporting on Principle 3 

 Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

 4.1 The Board should establish an audit committee. 2b Comply

 4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it:

  • consists only non-executive directors; 2a, 2b Comply

  • consists of a majority of independent directors; 2a, 2b Comply

  • is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the Board; and 2a Comply

  • has at least three members. 2a, 2b Comply

 4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. 2a Comply

 4.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 2a, 3b Comply 
  reporting on Principle 4 Directors’ report

ASX principles compliance statement

Corporate governance (continued)
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	 	 ASX	corporAte	governAnce	council’S	beSt	prActice	recommendAtionS	 reference	 compliAnce

 Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

 5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure compliance 8 Comply 
  and ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability 
  at senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies or 
  a summary of those policies. 

 5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 8 Comply 
  reporting on Principle 5 

 Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

 6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for promoting 8, 9 Comply 
  effective communication with shareholders and encouraging their participation 
  at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of that policy. 

 6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 8, 9 Comply 
  on Principle 6 

 Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

 7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of 2b, 4a, 4b Comply 
  material business risks and disclose a summary of those policies. 

 7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the risk 4a Comply 
  management and internal control systems to manage the company’s material 
  business risks and disclose a summary of those policies 

 7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief 4b Comply 
  executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) 
  that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the 
  Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
  control and that the system is operating effectively in al material respects in 
  relation to financial reporting risks. 

 7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 4a,4b, Under Review 
  on Principle 7 Directors’ report  

 Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

 8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee Remuneration report Comply

 8.2 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive 
  directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and senior executives. Remuneration report Comply

 8.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
  reporting on Principle 8 Remuneration report Comply
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The directors present their report on the consolidated entity 
comprising Perilya Limited (“Perilya” or “the company”) and its 
controlled entities (“the consolidated entity”) for the year ended 
30 June 2008 (“the financial year”). Perilya is a company limited by 
shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the 
financial year consisted of zinc, lead and silver mining, base metals 
exploration and investment activities.

Review and results of operations

Results

The consolidated entity has recorded a net loss after tax (NLAT) of 
$140.235 million for the 12 months to 30 June 2008, comprising a 
net loss after tax of $142.256 million from continuing operations and 
a net profit after tax of $2.021 million from discontinued operations 
(Daisy Milano gold operations). The net loss for the year compares to 
a net profit after tax (NPAT) of $82.483 million in the previous year. 

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008	 2007
      $A’000 $A’000

Revenue from ordinary activities   273,124 365,793

Profit / (loss) after tax from ordinary activities (140,235) 82,483

Profit / (loss) after tax attributable to members (140,235) 82,483

The result includes pre-tax impairment losses of $188.211 million 
and other one-off adjustments which are described further below. 
The underlying net loss after tax of $22.090 million was impacted 
by weaker zinc and lead prices, a stronger Australian dollar, higher 
treatment and refining charges, and a number of one-off items. 

The weaker AUD metal prices and the higher operating cost 
environment have resulted in the need to impair the company’s 
Broken Hill assets and, ultimately, resize the operation to provide for 
a more financially acceptable operating plan for the next 2 to 3 years 
(refer ASX announcement made on 21 August 2008).

Reconciliation to underlying financial results:

	 	 	 	 	 	 tAX		 net	impAct
A$	million	 	 note	 pre-tAX	 effect	 After	tAX

Net loss from continuing 
operations    (168.028) 25.772 (142.256)

Add back significant items:    

Impairment losses 
(refer table below)   188.211 (56.463) 131.748

Adjustment to deferred 
income (silver sale)  (d) (36.034) 10.810 (25.224)

Profit on sale of investments 
(Herald Resources – Dec 07) (e) (16.064) 4.819 (11.245)

Write-off of net deferred 
tax asset  (f ) - 24.887 24.887

Underlying financial result  (31.915) 9.825 (22.090)

Impairment losses & significant items

The Board and management at year end reviewed the carrying value 
of the company’s assets for possible impairment in accordance with 
relevant accounting standards. The total impairment loss recognised 
in the financial statements is summarised in the following table and 
discussed further below.

impAirment	loSSeS	 	 pre-tAX
A$	million	 note	 impAct

Broken Hill operating and exploration assets  (a) 163.226

Other exploration assets   (b) 10.113

Available-for-sale financial assets  (c) 13.858

Sundry      1.014

Total impairment losses (pre-tax)   188.211

(a)	 Broken	Hill	impairment

As part of the extensive review of the Broken Hill operations, 
which culminated in the decision on 21 August 2008 to reduce the 
production profile and focus on a lower cost operation, the carrying 
value of the Broken Hill assets were assessed. As a result, the 
carrying value of the operating assets was reduced by $134.877 
million and exploration assets by $28.349 million. Importantly, 
the Board believes that despite these one-off write downs, the 
operational changes implemented at Broken Hill will allow the 
operation to maintain a production level that is financially acceptable 
whilst retaining the ability to re-establish increased production and 
profitability in the future if metal prices increase.

(b)	 Other	exploration	assets	impairment

All exploration assets, other than the Mount Oxide Project have been 
written down to zero. The carried forward exploration expenditure 
at Flinders and other non-core exploration assets was impaired by 
$10.113 million (2007: $0.498 million).

(c)	 Available-for-sale	investments	impairment

As a result of the current volatility in world financial markets, the 
Board has reclassified $39.991 million in cash invested in commercial 
paper to ‘Current assets – Available-for-sale financial assets’ and 
provided for, what the Board believes to be a permanent impairment 
against these investments, of $9.841 million. The Board believes 
the carrying value at 30 June 2008 of $30.150 million represents fair 
value for these investments.

Notwithstanding, the reclassification of these investments (which 
have high credit ratings) and that they continue to meet all principal 
and interest obligations, there continues to be a risk that further 
deterioration may occur in the future or where the investments are 
realised before maturity. Importantly, these investments are being 
actively managed to minimise the potential for loss. Subsequent to 
the end of the financial year, approximately 25% of these commercial 
paper investments had been converted to cash.

Furthermore, the company holds a number of listed investments held 
for sale. The value of these investments has been impaired by $4.017 
million at 30 June 2008 as a result of the deterioration in the local 
equity markets (2007: $0.817million).

Directors’ report
30 June 2008
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(d)	 Silver	sale	(October	2005)

On the back of the resizing of the Broken Hill Operation, the company 
reviewed the balance of the deferred silver revenue relating to the 
up-front proceeds received from Coeur d’Alene Mines Corporation in 
October 2005. Under the agreement with Coeur d’Alene, there were 
approximately a further 12.5 million ounces of silver outstanding at 
30 June 2008. Accordingly, the company has booked a pre-tax credit 
of $36.034 million resulting from the re-estimate of silver production 
under the current resized operating plan. 

In the event that the company re-establishes increased production 
beyond its current operating plan, it will continue to deliver silver to 
Coeur d’Alene in accordance with its obligations.

(e)	 Profit	on	sale	of	investments

During the year Perilya sold an 8.86% investment in Herald 
Resources Limited resulting in a net gain on sale of $16.064 million.

(f )	 Non-recognition	of	deferred	tax	asset

Under the resized operations at Broken Hill, in the Board’s opinion, 
it is not probable Perilya will have sufficient future taxable profit 
to offset against carried forward unused tax losses. Therefore no 
deferred tax asset has been recognized.

Sales revenue

Product sales revenues were negatively impacted by the volatility in 
zinc and lead prices, which have fallen by 50% and 42% respectively 
in Australian dollar terms, compared to the previous year. Physical 
sales volumes for zinc and lead were slightly lower than last year 
by 1 % and 13% respectively. Included in sales revenue of $273.124 
million is an amount of $36.034 million recognised on accelerated 
release of pre-paid silver revenue as discussed above.

Cash and deposits

At 30 June 2008, cash and deposits totalled $36.976 million (2007: 
$173.047 million) which includes secured deposits of $10.444 
million to support performance bonds required under various 
mining licences at Broken Hill. As at 30 June 2008, $39.991 million 
of investments, which were previously recorded as cash, were 
reclassified to available-for-sale investments. 

Debt

At 30 June 2008 the company had $26.005 million in debt 
(2007: $15.651 million), of which $10.000 million was repaid on 
26 September 2008 (as disclosed in the ‘Matters subsequent to the 
end of the financial year’ section of this report).

Financial position

Notwithstanding the impairment losses recognised in the financial 
statements, the Group’s net asset position as at 30 June 2008 was 
largely unchanged at $147.610 million compared to the prior year net 
asset position of $149.273 million. As a result of the decline in metal 
prices during the year there was a significant increase in the mark to 
market value of the company’s hedge book, which is recognised in 
reserves in the equity section of the balance sheet.

At 30 June 2008 the Group had an excess of current assets over 
current liabilities of $115.645 million (2007: $25.375 million excess). 

Subsequent to the end of the financial year the Group’s hedge book 
was closed realising $60.314 million in cash, underlining the strong 
working capital position of the company.

Share capital

During the financial year the company issued 260,000 shares as a 
result of the exercise of unlisted employee options (2007: 3,840,000) 
and 346,263 shares as a result of the take up of the Perilya Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) following payments of the final dividend 
in September 2007 and the interim dividend in March 2008 (2007: 
total 1,389,138). 

Additionally 1,730,450 (2007: 2,126,375) shares were purchased on-
market to satisfy the company’s contribution to the Perilya Employee 
Share Acquisition Plan (“ESAP”). These shares are recognised as 
treasury shares and are subsequently deducted from issued shares 
until such time as they vest to the employees. 

As at 30 June 2008, there are 196,882,640 ordinary fully paid shares 
on issue (2007: 196,276,377 shares). After deducting shares held in 
the ESAP, there were 193,982,220 consolidated shares on issue at 
the end of the financial year (2007: 194,247,527).

For further information on the Perilya ESAP see section 11.6.2 on 
page 30 of this report and in the notes in the annual financial report.

BROKEN HILL OPERATION

Production

Zinc production was 91,295 tonnes and lead production was 52,412 
tonnes for the year. (FY07: 92,100 tonnes of zinc and 60,500 tonnes 
of lead). Production in the second half of the year was up 15% on the 
first half on the back of business improvement programs, increased 
development and equipment utilisation and improved mine planning.

Cash operating margin at the Broken Hill Operation for the year 
reduced 78% to US$0.16 cents per pound zinc (FY07: US$0.72), on 
the back of lower metal prices. Net cash costs at Broken Hill for the 
year increased 37% to US$1.03 cents per pound zinc (FY07: US$0.75), 
largely on the back of higher operating costs and lower lead prices.

FLINDERS PROJECT

Flinders provides Perilya with a high grade niche zinc silicate product 
to take full advantage of tight market conditions. 

During the financial period, Perilya successfully established a 
market for blended zinc silicate ore from its Beltana mine and the 
current stockpiles, together with the Reliance deposit, will provide 
an excellent opportunity to create significant value when market 
conditions improve in the future.

In January 2008, the company completed mining and crushing 
operations at Beltana with a total of 316,400 tonnes of zinc silicate 
ore mined and stockpiled at an approximate average grade of 
32% zinc, for a total of 101,385 tonnes of contained zinc. 

During the period February 2008 to June 2008, the company 
successfully completed 6 shipments of Beltana blended intermediate 
grade ore sold for a total of 26,800 tonnes of contained zinc.

A total of 263,520 tonnes of zinc silicate ore is stockpiled at 30 June 
2008 at an approximate average grade of 31% zinc, for a total of 
81,585 tonnes of contained zinc. Sales of the remaining stockpiled 
ore are expected to be completed over the coming 2 to 3 years.
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Review and results of operations (continued)

CORPORATE

Dividends

No final dividend was declared for the year ending 30 June 2008. 
Dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows:

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008	 2007
      $’000 $’000

Fully franked final ordinary dividend for  
the year ended 30 June 2007 of 1 cent 
(2006: 4 cents) per fully paid share paid 
on 29 September 2007   1,963 7,653

Fully franked interim ordinary dividend for 
the year ended 30 June 2008 of 1 cent 
(2007: 10 cents) per fully paid share 
on 27 March 2008    1,966 19,188

       3,929 26,841

The Board has also resolved to suspend the company’s Dividend 
Re-investment Plan until further notice.

Investments

During the year Perilya sold an 8.86% investment in Herald Resources 
Limited resulting in a net gain on sale of $16.064 million. This amount 
is included in ‘Other income’ in the income statement.

Discontinued operation and disposal of assets

The gold assets, including the Daisy Milano mine, were also sold 
during the period, to Silverlake Resources Limited for a consideration 
of $14.500 million in cash and shares, plus a production royalty of up 
to $250,000. Details related to this sale are disclosed in note 7 of the 
financial report and results for the period are subsequently reported 
as a discontinued operation in the income statement (along with 
comparative 2007 data).

Revenue protection

The mark to market value of the company’s hedge book was 
‘in-the-money’ by A$84.4 million (net of deferred option premiums 
of $28.5 million) at 30 June 2008 compared to the previous period of 
A$105.1 million ‘out-of-the-money’ as at 30 June 2007. Subsequent to 
the year end the Group closed out its hedge book realising $60.314 
million in cash, net of option premiums of A$16.0 million.

METALS MARKETS

During the period the zinc price dropped 43% to US$1,903/tn or 
US$0.86/lb (30 June 2007: US$3,338/tn & US$1.51/lb). London Metal 
Exchange (LME) zinc stocks increased to 153,625 tonnes at year end. 

The lead price, after rising rapidly in the early part of the period, 
dropped 34% to US$1,736/tn or US$0.78/lb (30 June 2007: 
US$2,647/tn & US$1.20/lb). LME lead stocks rose 126% from 45,075 
tonnes to 101,900 tonnes at year end. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs
Other than items already noted, additional significant changes in the 
state of affairs of the group during the financial year were as follows:

• A turnaround from net profit after tax of $82.483 million realised  
 in FY 2007 to a net loss after tax of $140.235 million for FY 2008; 

• Recognition of impairment losses of $188.211 million including  
 $163.226 million against the Group’s Broken Hill Operation;

• The mark-to-market value of the Group’s hedge book went from  
 $105.1 million out-of-the-money at 30 June 2007 to $84.4 million  
 in-the-money at 30 June 2008; and

• A net increase in contributed equity of $0.492 million 
 (from $106.047 million to $106.539 million) as a result of:

 - the issue of 260,000 fully paid ordinary shares at an average  
  price of $1.36 each on the exercise of options;

 - the issue of 346,263 fully paid ordinary shares at an   
  average price of $1.93 per share as a result of the Perilya  
  Dividend Reinvestment Plan following payment of the final  
  dividend in September 2007 and payment of the interim  
  dividend in March 2008; and

 - the vesting of 858,880 employee ESAP shares at an average  
  price of $3.01 per share; offset by 

- for the period ending 30 June 2008, the on-market purchase of 
1,730,450 shares, at an average price of $1.80 per share, held 
as treasury shares to meet current obligations under the Perilya 
ESAP (for further information see the annual financial report).

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
Apart from the matters disclosed below there has not arisen, in the 
interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report, any item, transaction or event of a material or unusual nature 
which, in the opinion of the directors has, or may, significantly affect 
the operations or financial position of the consolidated entity, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated 
entity, in future periods.

Broken	Hill	Operation	resizing	and	closure	of	hedge	book

On 21 August 2008, Perilya reported that it has completed an 
extensive review of its Broken Hill zinc, lead and silver operation and 
implemented a plan to resize the operation in light of current low 
metal prices. As a result of this review, Perilya has implemented a 
new production plan at its Broken Hill Operation, focused on a lower 
tonnage profile around mining remnant pillars and stopes with low 
development requirements in the Southern Operation. It was further 
decided that the North Mine and Potosi exploration decline be placed 
on care and maintenance. The new production plan and operational 
changes are aimed at ensuring the Broken Hill Operation maintains 
a production level that is financially acceptable and allows the 
operation to weather the current low metal prices.

Furthermore, it positions the Broken Hill Operation to re-establish 
increased production and profitability in the future when metal  
prices increase.

Directors’ report (continued)
30 June 2008
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Regrettably, the lower production rate resulted in a significant 
reduction manning levels. These redundancies which are expected to 
costs approximately $20 million, commenced on 1 September 2008 
and are expected to be completed by 30 September 2008. Further 
cost reductions and a reduction in corporate staff at the corporate 
head office have also been effected.

In conjunction with the resizing, Perilya closed-out its hedge book 
realising $60.314 million in cash. The hedge book was closed to 
realise its inherent financial value and to strengthen the company’s 
balance sheet during this period of low metal prices. The gains 
arising from the closure of the hedge book will be recognised over 
the FY2009 and FY2010 financial accounts, in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy.

Proceeds from the hedge book closure have been used and 
allocated to fund the resizing of the Broken Hill Operation (including 
redundancy costs and working capital requirements) and repayment 
of the $10.000 million short-term borrowings.

Borrowings

On 26 September 2008, the company repaid $10.000 million in short-
term borrowings.

Restricted	cash

After balance date, bank guarantees backing existing rehabilitation 
performance guarantees in place with relevant state governments 
expired and were required to be replaced by cash backed facilities. 
To meet this requirement Perilya placed an additional $14.275 million 
into restricted cash. 

Mount	Oxide	copper	assets

On 11 September 2008, the company announced that it had entered 
into a Heads of Agreement with Chalice Gold Mines Limited to 
acquire 100% of Perilya’s interest in the Mount Oxide copper project. 
Under the terms of the agreement, Perilya will receive 200 million 
shares in Chalice and through this shareholding in Chalice, Perilya 
shareholders retain a 73% interest in the Mount Oxide project. 
The acquisition of Perilya’s Mount Oxide project by Chalice and the 
issue of the Chalice shares in consideration are subject to certain 
conditions precedent, including mutual due diligence, Chalice 
shareholder and other regulatory approvals. As at the date of this 
report the sale remains subject to these conditions precedent. 

Likely developments and expected results 
of operations
Further information about the likely developments in the operations 
of the consolidated entity and the expected results of those 
operations in future financial years has not been included in this 
report because disclosure of the information would be likely to result 
in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity.

Board of directors
The directors of Perilya Limited in office during the financial year and 
up to the date for this report were:

	 nAme	 poSition	 independent	 firSt	Appointed

Patrick O’Connor  Executive No 1 February 2006  
   Chairman  – appointed 
     Executive Chairman  
     5 February 2008

Peter Harley Non-executive Yes 19 November 2003 
   director

Phillip Lockyer Non-executive Yes 19 November 2003 
   director

Karen Field Non-executive Yes 24 August 2007 
   director

Evert van den Brand Non-executive Yes 17 September 2007 
   director

Mr Len Jubber the company’s former CEO and Managing Director held 
office from 27 April 2005, until he resigned his position as Managing 
Director and CEO on 31 March 2008. Mr Jubber then remained 
available to the company until his effective date of resignation on 31 
July 2008.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Particulars on the skills, experience, expertise and responsibilities 
of each director at the date of this report, including all directorships 
of other listed companies held or previously held by a director at any 
time in the past three years, are set out below.

Patrick O’Connor
BCom (UWA), SEP Stanford Executive Program (USA), FAICD 

Executive Chairman Age: 45

Term	of	office	

Non-Executive Chairman since 1 February 2006 and Executive 
Chairman since 5 February 2008.

Skills,	experience	and	expertise

He is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
attended the Stanford Executive Program at Stanford University, 
California, USA. 

Patrick has extensive executive leadership skills and wide experience 
in communicating with capital markets, shareholders and the 
media. He has a deep understanding of organisational and strategic 
development drawn from his involvement in management consulting 
practices specialising in these fields. He is currently an executive of 
St George Capital Pty Ltd, a boutique investment manager. 

Other	current	directorships

Chairman: Water Corporation 
Chairman: Xceed Capital Limited

Former	directorships	over	the	past	three	years

Director of Adelphi Energy Limited 
Director of Oceana Gold Limited 
Chairman of Acuron Limited



Perilya Limited 2008 Concise Annual Report

26

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Phillip Lockyer
AWASM, DipMetall, MSc

Independent non-executive director Age: 64

Term	of	office

Phillip was appointed non-executive director on 19 November 2003 
and was the company’s Chairman until 1 February 2006. 

Skills,	experience	and	expertise

Phillip is a mining engineer and metallurgist with more than 40 years 
experience in the minerals industry with an emphasis on gold and 
nickel, in both underground and open pit mining operations. Phillip 
has worked in senior positions in WMC Resources, Dominion Mining 
Ltd and Resolute Ltd. He was formerly WMC Resources, General 
Manager Western Australia with responsibility for that company’s 
nickel division and gold operations. 

He has extensive knowledge of the company’s Broken Hill mine and 
expertise in underground and open pit mining operations.

Perilya	Board	committee	membership

Phil is a member the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Phillip was Chairman of 
the HSE Committee until 31 August 2008.

Other	current	directorships

Director: Focus Minerals Limited 
Director: St Barbara Limited 
Director: Swick Mining Services Limited

Former	directorships	over	the	past	three	years

Director: Jubilee Mines NL 
Director: Ammtec Limited

Peter Harley
BComm, ASA, FAICD 

Independent non-executive director Age: 58

Term	of	office

Peter was appointed non-executive director on 19 November 2003. 

Skills,	experience	and	expertise

Peter is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
a qualified accountant. 

Peter has more than 30 years of commercial experience and has held 
senior roles in a range of diverse industries. Since 1996, Peter has 
been a senior consultant and a non-executive director to a number of 
organisations, providing strategic advice on areas including business 
planning, strategic marketing, acquisitions and investments. 

Perilya	Board	committee	membership

Peter is Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee.

Other	current	directorships

Director: Gunson Resources Limited

Former	directorships	over	the	past	three	years

Blaze International Ltd 
iiNet Limited

Karen Field
BEc

Independent non-executive director Age: 60

Term	of	office

Karen was appointed non-executive director on 24 August 2007. 

Skills,	experience	and	expertise

Karen is a professional non-executive director who has more than 30 
years of experience in the minerals industry with a wealth of mining 
experience and expertise in the areas of strategy, commercialisation, 
people and project management. During Karen’s career she has held 
executive roles in a variety of mining industry sectors throughout 
Australia and in South America and served as President of Minera 
Alumbrera Limited, which manages the Bajo de la Alumbrera copper 
gold project in north western Argentina.

Perilya	Board	committee	membership

Karen is the Chairman of the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee. Karen was also a member of the HSE Committee until 
31 August 2008.

Other	current	directorships

Director: Sipa Resources Limited 
Director: Electricity Networks Corporation 
Director: Water Corporation 
Director: Cooperative Research Centre for Sustainable Resource 
Processing

Former	directorships	over	the	past	three	years

Nil

Evert van den Brand
MSc Mining and Metallurgy

Independent non-executive director Age: 61

Term	of	office

Evert was appointed non-executive director on 17 September 2007. 

Skills,	experience	and	expertise

Evert has over 30 years of experience in the international mining 
industry. Evert has worked in various executive positions in the base 
metals, industrial minerals and gold mining industries in different 
mining centres around the world. He was most recently Senior Vice 
President of Operations with Placer Dome Inc. Evert served with 
Placer Dome Inc for over 18 years before retiring to pursue non-
executive director roles.

He has a considerable experience and expertise in the areas of 
underground mining, processing, business restructuring, major 
capital projects and financial, commercial and people management. 

Perilya	Board	committee	membership

Evert was also a member of the HSE Committee until 31 August 2008.

Other	current	directorships

Nil

Former	directorships	over	the	past	three	years

Nil

Directors’ report (continued)
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BOARD MEETINg ATTENDANCE

Particulars of the number of meetings of the Board of directors of Perilya and each Board committee of directors held and attended by each 
director during the 12 months ended 30 June 2008 are set out below:

	 	 	 	 boArd	meetingS	 	 boArd	committee	meetingS

	 	 	 	 	 Audit	And	riSk	 remunerAtion	And	 HSe
	 	 	 	 	 mAnAgement	committee	 nominAtionS	committee	 committee

	 	 	 A	 b	 A	 b	 A	 b	 A	 b

Patrick O’Connor 13 14 5 6 4 4 4 4

Len Jubber (resigned) 1 11 11 - - - - - -

Peter Harley 14 14 6 6 4 4 2 2

Phillip Lockyer 14 14 6 6 5 5 4 4

Karen Field 2 13 13 1 1 3 3 2 3

Evert van den Brand 3 12 12 - - - - 2 3

A Number of meetings attended
B Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant committee during the year.
1 As announced on 31 March 2008, Mr Jubber vacated the position of Managing Director and CEO effective as of that date. 
2 Ms Field was appointed to the Board effective 24 August 2007.
3 Mr van den Brand was appointed to the Board effective 17 September 2007.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES IN PERILyA

As at the date of this report, the relevant interests of each director in the ordinary shares and options in Perilya Limited are:

	 											 	 	 		fully	pAid	ordinAry	SHAreS	

	 	 	 	 beneficiAl,	privAte	compAny	or	truSt	 own	nAme

Patrick O’Connor  -  -

Peter Harley  15,000  -

Phillip Lockyer  20,492  -

Karen Field   -  -

Evert van den Brand  -  -

No director holds a relevant interest in any option or performance rights on issue.
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Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is Darryl Edwards, BCom, FCIS.

Darryl was appointed as the Company Secretary on 7 March 2006. 
He is a qualified company secretary, a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and a member of the Western 
Australian State Council of Chartered Secretaries Australia. 
He has over 15 years experience in company secretarial, financial 
management and legal roles and before joining Perilya held senior 
positions with a number of ASX listed companies. 

Employees
The consolidated entity employed 827 employees as at 30 June 2008 
(2007: 719). Subsequent to the end of the year, and as a result of the 
decision to resize the Broken Hill Operation, manning levels reduced 
significantly in September 2008. 

Risk management
The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also 
opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that the group’s 
objectives and activities are aligned with those risks and opportunities.

The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that 
management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks 
identified by the Board. These include:

• Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses the 
Board’s objectives and strategies along with identified risks and 
plans to manage such risks;

• Implementation of Board approved operating budgets and plans, 
then monitoring the actual progress against those;

• Audit and Risk Management Committee reporting on specific 
business risks; and

• Dissemination of a Risk Management Policy guide to be used 
throughout the company in identifying and communicating 
business risks.

Environmental disclosure
The company’s operations are subject to various Commonwealth and 
State laws governing the protection of the environment in areas such 
as air and water quality, waste emission and disposal, environmental 
impact assessments, mine rehabilitation and access to, and use 
of, ground water. In particular, some operations are required to 
be licensed to conduct certain activities under the environmental 
protection legislation of the state in which they operate and such 
licenses include requirements specific to the subject site.

So far as the directors are aware, there have been no material 
breaches of the company’s licenses and all mining and exploration 
activities have been undertaken in compliance with the relevant 
environmental regulations.

Options 

Options on Issue

Details of options over unissued shares in Perilya Limited as at the 
date of this report are set out below:

	 	 	 eXerciSe	 	 eXpiry
	 	 number		 price	 grAnt	dAte	 dAte

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 50,000 $0.88 20.08.04 20.08.09

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 1,000,000 $1.13 31.05.05 16.05.11

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 300,000 $2.47 28.03.06 07.03.11

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 100,000 $2.67 28.03.06 07.03.12

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 100,000 $2.97 28.03.06 07.03.13

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 300,000 $3.46 17.07.06 17.07.11

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 100,000 $3.89 17.07.06 17.07.12

Unlisted Employee 
Incentive Options 100,000 $4.32 17.07.06 17.07.13

   2,050,000   

No further options have been granted since the end of the financial 
year and the date of this report.

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any 
other share issue of the company or any other entity.

Options exercised

During the financial period 260,000 options were exercised at an 
average price of $1.36 and 260,000 ordinary shares in Perilya Limited 
were issued for a consideration of $0.354 million. 

Options forfeited or cancelled

During or since the end of the financial period 2,200,000 options 
were forfeited or cancelled.

Options expired or lapsed

During, or since the end of the financial period, no options have 
expired or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Employee 
Share Option Plan.

Directors’ report (continued)
30 June 2008
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Performance rights

Performance rights on issue

Details of performance rights over unissued shares in Perilya Limited 
as at the date of this report are set out below:

	 number	 grAnt	dAte	 veSting	dAte	 eXpiry	dAte

 702,000 10 Dec 2007 30 Sept 2010 30 Sept 2012

No further performance rights have been granted since the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report.

No performance rights holder has any right under these to participate 
in any other share issue of the company or any other entity.

Performance rights issued, forfeited or cancelled

During the year 803,000 performance rights were issued to senior 
executives. During or since the end of the financial period 101,000 
performance rights were forfeited or cancelled in accordance with the 
terms of the Perilya Long Term Incentive Share Plan.

Indemnities and insurance
During the financial year the company paid a premium to insure the 
directors and officers of the consolidated entity against liabilities 
incurred in the performance of their duties.

The officers of the group covered by the insurance policy include any 
person acting in the course of duties for the consolidated entity who 
is, or was, a director, executive officer, company secretary or a senior 
manager within the consolidated entity. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in 
defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against 
the officers, in their capacity as officers, of entities in the Group, and 
any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers 
in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such 
liabilities that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by 
the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of 
information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to 
cause detriment to the company. It is not possible to apportion the 
premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal 
costs and those relating to other liabilities.

Proceedings on behalf of the consolidated entity
At the date of this report there are no leave applications or 
proceedings brought on behalf of the consolidated entity under 
section 237 of the Corporations	Act	2001.

Non-audit services
In accordance with the company’s External Auditor Policy and 
Guidelines, the company may decide to engage the external auditor 
on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where  
the auditor’s expertise and experience with the consolidated entity 
are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, for audit and non-audit services provided 
during the financial year are set out in note 11 of the financial report.

The board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance 
with advice received from the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
are satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services detailed 
in note 11 of the financial report were compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001. The directors are also satisfied that the provision of these 
non-audit services did not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 because:

• they have no reason to question the veracity of the auditor’s 
independence declaration referred to in the section immediately 
following this section of the report; and

• the nature of the non-audit services provided is not inconsistent 
with those requirements.

Auditor’s independence declaration
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues as external auditor in accordance 
with section 327 of the Corporations	Act	2001. The auditor’s 
independence declaration as required under section 307C of the 
Corporations	Act	2001 is set out on page 37 and forms part of this report.

Remuneration report (audited)
The remuneration report summarises the key remuneration 
arrangements for the reporting period 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008 for 
the key management personnel of Perilya Limited and its controlled 
entities (“the Group”) in office during the financial year.

The remuneration report has been set out under the following 
main headings:

11.1  Board Remuneration and Nominations Committee
11.2  Executive remuneration policy and structure 
11.3  Remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer
11.4  Remuneration of key management personnel
11.5  Contracts for key management personnel
11.6  Share-based compensation
11.7  Other remuneration information
11.8  Remuneration of Executive Chairman and non-executive directors

The information provided in this remuneration report has been 
audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations	Act	2001.

11.1  BOARD REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

The Board Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
(“the Committee”) assists the Board to fulfil its responsibilities to 
shareholders by ensuring the Group has remuneration policies that 
fairly and competitively reward executives and the broader Perilya 
employee workforce. The Committee’s decisions on reward structures 
are based on the current competitive environment, remuneration 
packages for executives and employees in the resources industry 
and the size and complexity of the Consolidated Group.

The Committee’s responsibilities include reviewing the company’s 
remuneration framework and evaluating the performance of the 
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and monitoring performance of the 
executive team.

Independent remuneration consultants are engaged by the 
Committee to ensure the company’s remuneration system and 
reward practices are consistent with market practices.
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11.2  ExECUTIvE REMUNERATION POLICy AND STRUCTURE

Perilya’s executive remuneration policy sets the policy for rewarding 
the CEO and senior executives (who are direct reports to the CEO), 
managers reporting to the senior executives and the Company 
Secretary. The main principles underlying Perilya’s executive 
remuneration policy are to:

• provide competitive rewards that attract, retain and motivate 
executives;

• set demanding levels of performance which are clearly linked to 
an executive’s remuneration;

• structure remuneration at a level that reflects the executive’s 
duties and accountabilities;

• set a competitive level of remuneration that is sufficient and 
reasonable;

• align executive incentive rewards with the creation of value for 
shareholders; and

• comply with applicable legal requirements and appropriate 
standards of governance.

Executive remuneration is reviewed annually having regard to 
individual and business performance against agreed financial and 
non-financial performance measures set at the beginning of the year.

The executive remuneration policy and structure for the next financial 
year is currently under review in light of the resizing of the Broken 
Hill Operations and the reduced number of executives and employees 
across the Consolidated Group.

11.2.1 Executive remuneration structure – Fy 2008 

Perilya’s remuneration structure for the CEO and senior executives up 
until 30 June 2008 was divided into two principal components:

• Fixed annual reward; and

• Variable annual reward, or “at risk” component that is subject to 
performance and comprises a cash-based short-term incentive 
(“STI”) and a long-term share-based payment incentive (“LTI”). 

11.2.2  Fixed annual reward

The fixed annual reward component of executive remuneration 
comprises base salary, statutory superannuation contributions and 
other non-cash allowances such as housing (where applicable), 
motor vehicle and health insurance (where applicable). It is 
determined by the scope of each executive’s role, level of knowledge, 
skill and experience along with their individual performance. 

Perilya annually reviews and benchmarks this component of 
executive remuneration against appropriate market comparisons 
using information and advice from external consultants. There is no 
guarantee of base pay increases included in any executives’ contract.

11.2.3  variable annual reward

During the reporting period the company’s executives’ remuneration 
structure included, a variable annual reward, comprising both an STI 
and an LTI, based on an assessment of their individual performance 
and Perilya’s overall performance. 

On 21 August 2008 and effective from 1 July 2008, all variable annual 
reward plans were suspended and are presently under review by the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee. The Board plans to align 
future variable rewards (STI and LTI) having regard to the resized 
organisation, which was effected subsequent to the end of the 
reporting period on 1 September 2008.

11.2.3.1  Fy 2008 variable rewards

Short-term incentive component (STI)

No STI payments were made during the year.

Long-term incentive component (LTI)

Options	–	under	the	Perilya	Limited	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	
(approved	by	shareholders	in	November	2003	and	reconfirmed	in	
November	2006)

No options have been granted under this incentive program since 
June 2006. 

Employee	Share	Acquisition	Plan	(“ESAP”)

Senior executives are eligible to participate in the company’s Employee 
Share Acquisition Plan (“ESAP”), which provides that both senior 
executives and employees may salary sacrifice up to 10% of their 
annual salary to acquire Perilya shares on-market. Perilya will match 
the contributions by senior executives and employees on a dollar 
for dollar basis to acquire shares in Perilya. The shares acquired are 
subject to a restriction period of two years. The ESAP provides all 
employees with an opportunity to become part owners in the company.

Subsequent to the end of the year, on 21 August 2008, the ESAP was 
suspended and is presently under review by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. 

Further detail on the ESAP is set out in section 11.6.2 below.

Performance	Rights	–	under	the	Perilya	Long	Term	Incentive	Share	
Plan	(approved	by	shareholders	in	October	2007)

At the company’s Annual General Meeting in October 2007 a new 
equity-based Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) was introduced which 
provided for the grant of annual awards of performance rights to 
executives. These performance rights will only vest if Perilya’s total 
shareholder return (“TSR”) meets or exceeds the 50th percentile of 
a comparative group of mining companies (the “comparator group”) 
when ranked by TSR calculated over the relevant performance 
period. As at 30 June 2008 Perilya’s TSR was in the lowest quartile, 
when measured against its determined peer group. This placed it 
at a minimum of one full quartile short of the minimum conditions 
at which shares will potentially vest under the performance hurdle 
conditions set therefore, as of this date, no expense for these rights 
had been recognised in the Group accounts.

Subsequent to the end of the year, on 21 August 2008, the LTIP was 
suspended and is presently under review by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. 

At the date of this report a number of senior executives retain 
performance rights issued to them under this incentive program 
(see details in section 11.6.3 of this report). 

Directors’ report (continued)
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The Board plans to align future long-term rewards having regard to 
the resized organisation, which effected subsequent to the end of the 
reporting period on 1 September 2008 and accordingly, the LTIP will 
be terminated and wound-up in due course.

11.3  REMUNERATION OF THE CHIEF ExECUTIvE OFFICER

During the reporting period, Mr Len Jubber held the position of CEO 
and Managing Director until he resigned his position as Managing 
Director and CEO on 31 March 2008. Mr Jubber then remained available 
to the company until his effective date of resignation on 31 July 2008.

Under the employment contract with Mr Jubber he was entitled to 
receive a annual fixed salary, STI and LTI awards (as defined above) 
and was eligible to participate in the company’s Employee Share 
Acquisition Plan and superannuation plan. Details of 
Mr Jubber’s contract and remuneration for 2007/08 are described 
below and set out in Table 3 below.

11.3.1 Remuneration paid to the CEO for the 2008 year

The remuneration provisions of Mr Jubber’s employment contract as 
it applied for 2007/08 provided for:

Fixed annual reward

During the year, Mr Jubber’s annual fixed reward was reviewed 
against peer companies with the assistance of external remuneration 
consultants. As a result fixed remuneration for the financial year 
was set at $750,000 (2007: $572,250) per annum, inclusive of 
9% superannuation.

Short-term incentive component

No short term incentive was paid to Mr Jubber in respect of his 
services during the year ended 30 June 2008.

Share based payments

Mr Jubber was entitled to participate in the company’s Employee 
Share Acquisition Plan (“ESAP”) (refer to section 11.6.2 below for 
more details), which provided for an initial one-off grant of shares 
and the ability to salary sacrifice on a monthly basis to acquire 
additional shares in Perilya, which is matched dollar for dollar by the 
company. All shares acquired for the benefit of Mr Jubber, under the 
ESAP, are purchased on-market.

During the financial year ending 30 June 2008, Mr Jubber elected to 
salary sacrifice $69,400 (2007: $52,500), during the financial year, to 
acquire additional shares in Perilya and in accordance with the terms 
of the ESAP the company matched those contributions to a value of 
$69,400 (2007: $52,500). The shares acquired using Mr Jubber’s salary 
sacrifice contributions and the company’s matching contributions were 
acquired (on-market) on a monthly basis and are subject to a restriction 
period of two years from the date of allocation within the Plan. 

As Mr Jubber terminated his employment with Perilya on 31 July 2008, 
the shares held in the ESAP for the benefit of Mr Jubber (other than 
the shares acquired using his salary sacrifice and any shares already 
vested under the terms of the Plan), which have not met the restriction 
periods were forfeited. The total number of shares subsequently 
forfeited was 59,060.

Long-term incentive component

As approved by shareholders on 31 October 2008, Mr Jubber was 
granted performance rights over 334,000 Perilya ordinary shares 
under the company’s Long Term Incentive Share Plan which were 
equivalent to 170% of his total fixed remuneration (“TFR”) divided 
by the 30 day volume weighted average price of Perilya shares as at  
1 October 2007. This represented a value up to $1,275,000. 

Subsequently these performance rights lapsed on 31 July 2008 and 
were cancelled in August 2008. 

11.3.2 Termination benefits

Other than statutory entitlements for annual leave and superannuation, 
Mr Jubber’s contract did not provide for any termination payments. 

11.4  REMUNERATION OF KEy MANAgEMENT PERSONNEL

As prescribed by Section 300A of the	Corporations	Act	2001, details 
on remuneration for key management personnel of the Group and 
specified executives of Perilya Limited are set out in the sub-sections 
below. Remuneration disclosures related to the Executive Chairman 
and non-executive directors’ are set out in section 11.8.

11.4.1 Relationship between remuneration and Perilya performance

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee and the Board 
continually seek to strengthen the link between executive 
remuneration and the company’s short and long term performance. 

The short term performance component takes into account a 
number of internal and external factors relevant to the executive’s 
performance and the overall performance of Perilya. Given Perilya’s 
results and performance can be significantly impacted by movements 
in both commodity prices and exchange rates, the impact of these 
factors is taken into account in determining the amount of an 
executive’s short term incentive payments.

In determining the long-term performance component of the CEO 
and the senior executives, equity-base incentive plans are an integral 
part of Perilya’s overall approach to competitive performance based 
remuneration, and aims to align employees’ and shareholders’ interests.



Perilya Limited 2008 Concise Annual Report

32

11.4.2 Financial performance

Perilya’s performance during 2008 and the four previous years are set out in Table 1 below.

Table	1	–	Perilya’s	financial	performance	for	the	past	five	years

yeAr	ended	30	June	 2008	 2007 2006 2005 2004

Net profit/(loss) after tax ($’000) (140,235) 82,483 67,006 (6,110) 12,887

Earnings per share (cents) (73.1) 43.3 35.6 (3.6) 8.0

Dividends per share (cents) (1) 1.0 11.0 5.0 - -

Dividend pay out ratio (%) - 25.4 14.0 - -

Market capitalisation ($’000) 140,000 857,728 456,602 126,835 142,697

Closing share price ($) 0.74 4.37 2.39 0.68 0.87

Total shareholder returns – 1 year (%) - 87.0 250.0 (21.8) 98.0

Total shareholder returns – 3 year rolling (%) - 417.8 423.5 (8.2) 187.0

(1) Dividends include dividends declared at year end.

11.4.3 Key management personnel

Key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related	Party	Disclosures) of Perilya Limited and its controlled entities include the 
directors (as set out in section 11.8) and those persons identified in this section who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of Perilya and its controlled entities whether directly or indirectly. 

The executives considered to be key management personnel during 2007/08 are set out in Table 2 below. These executives include the five 
most highly remunerated executives within the Perilya group of companies.

Table	2:	Key	management	personnel	during	2008	

Current key management personnel - as at the date of this report

	 	 	 period
nAme	 poSition (if less thAn the entire period)

Perilya	Limited:	 	

Paul Arndt1 Executive General Manager - Operations & Development Commenced – 7 February 2008

Tim Manners1 General Manager – Finance 

Key management personnel – who either during or since the end of the year have left the employment of the group

	 	 	 period
nAme	 poSition (if less thAn the entire period)

Bruce Hooper (resigned) Exploration Manager Resigned – effective 26 Sept 2008

Peter Eggleston1 (retrenched) General Manager – Sustainable Development Made redundant – effective 18 April 2008

Tim Carstens1 (resigned) General Manager – Corporate Development Resigned – effective 7 March 2008

Len Jubber1 (resigned) CEO and Managing Director2  Resigned – effective 31 July 2008

Controlled	entities:	 	

Rob Scargill (resigned) General Manager – Broken Hill Resigned – effective 28 February 2008

Trevor Mulroney (retrenched) General Manager - Development - Broken Hill Made redundant – effective 8 September 2008

1 Indicates 5 most highly remunerated executives 

2 Mr Jubber vacated the position of CEO and Managing Director effective 31 March 2008 but remained on contract to the company throughout the financial year and up to 31 July 2008 as disclosed in 
earlier sections of this report.
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11.4.4 Remuneration paid to key management personnel for the 2008 year

The total remuneration paid to key management personnel (excluding the Executive Chairman and non-executive directors) in 2008 is set out in 
Table 4 on the following page. 

Data in this table includes the 5 group executives, as identified above, who received the highest remuneration for the year ending 30 June 2008.

11.4.5 Short-Term incentives granted during the year

For the financial year ending 30 June 2008, the amount of short-term incentive payments payable to executives was based on performance 
against financial, operating and individual objectives and the exercise of discretion by the Board. 

For the year ending 30 June 2008 the Board has determined that no short term incentives are payable to key management personnel.

Table 4 shows the components of remuneration for the 2008 year for the key management personnel excluding non-executive directors 
(employed as at 30 June 2008) with data drawn from the remuneration disclosed in Table 4.

Table	3	–	Key	management	personnel	remuneration	breakdown

	 		 	 fiXed	remunerAtion%	 Sti	%	 lti	%

nAme  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Len Jubber  78% 47% - 8% 22% 45%

Paul Arndt  98% - - - 2% -

Tim Manners  68% 54% - 9% 32% 37%

Bruce Hooper  93% 81% - 17% 7% 2%

Trevor Mulroney 96% - - - 4% -
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Table	4	–	Key	management	personnel	remuneration	(excluding	Executive	Chairman	and	non-executive	directors	–	see	Table	19)

	 	 poSt	
	 SHort-term	employee	benefitS	 employment	 SHAre-bASed	pAymentS	 	

         fAir vAlue of   
        fAir vAlue  performAnce   
        of employee rights issued 
      sign on  shAre under perilyA fAir vAlue of
    incentive  benefits or  Acquisition long term long-term
   cAsh sAlAry bonus non- terminAtion super- plAn shAres incentive incentive  performAnce

nAme  And fees pAyments monetAry pAyments AnnuAtion issued(2) shAre plAn(3) options(4) totAl relAted

	 	 	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 %

CEO		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Len Jubber           
2008  694,000 - 3,184 - 50,000 54,040 - 157,539 958,763 22%
2007  525,000 105,000 4,141 - 55,088 36,113 - 529,086 1,254,428 53%

Senior	executives	 	

Paul Arndt1          
2008  199,359 - 969 200,000 17,942 7,680 - - 425,950 2%
2007   - - - - - - - - - -

Tim Manners           
2008  280,000 - 2,726 - 28,596 16,196 23,430 129,509 480,457 35%
2007   235,833 37,733 4,141 - 22,555 13,476 - 166,339 480,077 46%

Bruce Hooper
2008   270,000 - 2,715 - 25,725 20,997 - - 319,437 7%
20071  79,167 15,834 1,725 - 7,125 2,504 - - 106,355 19%

Peter Eggleston (retrenched)          
2008  217,038 - 2,282 146,413 23,503 20,086 - 273,066 682,388 43%
2007   240,564 44,113 3,796 - 19,851 16,157 - 177,674 502,155 48%

Tim Carstens (resigned)          
2008  221,112 - 3,401 133,990 23,000 (2,507) - (19,980) 359,016 -
2007   255,000 34,450 4,141 - 25,567 15,157 - 246,512 580,827 52%

Perilya	Limited	total	 	 	

2008  1,881,509 - 15,277 480,403 168,766 116,492 - 540,134 3,202,581 
2007  1,335,564 237,130 17,944 - 130,186 83,407 - 1,119,611 2,923,842 

Controlled	entities	 	 	 	

Trevor Mulroney          
2008  247,285 - 2,958 20,000 21,621 12,100 - - 303,964 4%
2007  - - - - - - - - - -

Rob Scargill (resigned)          
2008  197,182 - - 38,687 23,325 (4,041) - (19,980) 235,173 -
2007  261,692 25,250 - - 24,846 15,947 - 246,512 574,247 50%

Ron Ellis (resigned 2007)          
2008  - - - - - - - - - -
2007  172,950 - - 46,814 15,031 - - 3,423 238,218 -

Consolidated	entity	total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
2008  2,325,976 - 18,235 539,090 213,712 124,551 23,430 520,154 3,765,148 
2007  1,770,206 262,380 17,944 46,814 170,063 99,354 - 1,369,546 3,736,307 

(1) Mr Arndt was appointed on 7 February 2008, Mr Mulroney was appointed on 2 July 2007 and Mr Hooper was appointed on 8 Feb 2007 therefore data included for these years may not represent an 
“annual” amount. The same caveat applies for those executives identified as either resigned or retrenched.

(2) Employees, including key management personnel, are eligible to participate in the Perilya Employee Share Acquisition Plan (ESAP). The amounts shown in the table represent the expensing, over 
the requisite vesting period, of the fair value at grant date of employer financed shares held within the Plan for the 2008 and 2007 financial years. Negative amounts in the table, if shown, represent 
amounts for shares forfeited in the year (see section 11.6.2 for full details of the operation of the ESAP).

(3) Executives were allocated performance rights under the Perilya Long Term Incentive Share Plan, as approved by shareholders at the AGM in October 2007. Vesting conditions of these rights are 
performance based in relation to the company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) relative to its comparative peer group with vesting initially to be made over a 3 year period subject to a minimum 
performance condition that the company’s TSR be in the upper 50% quartiles. As at 30 June 2008 Perilya’s TSR was in the lowest quartile, when measured against its comparative peer group. This 
placed it at a minimum of one full quartile short of the minimum conditions at which shares will potentially vest under the performance hurdle conditions set therefore, as of this date, no expense for 
these rights had been recognised in the Group accounts. For more information on the operation of this Plan see section 11.6.3.

(4) Options were allocated to key management personnel based on their role and the ability to influence the performance of the company. The option remuneration value listed represents the amortisation 
applicable to the 2008 financial year of the assessed fair value of the options granted prior to or during the year and which vest during or after, the 2008 financial year. The assessed fair value at 
grant date of options is amortised on a straight line basis over the period from grant date to vesting date. This amount is included in the remuneration disclosed above. Fair values at grant date are 
determined using a Black Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non tradeable 
nature of the option, the current price and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. Negative amounts in the 
table, if shown, represent amounts for options forfeited in the year prior to meeting vesting conditions. 
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11.4.6 Share based incentives awarded during the year

Key management personnel are eligible to participate in the company’s Employee Share Acquisition Plan. Shares are subject to a restriction 
period of up to two years (refer to section 11.6.2 below for further details on operation of the Plan and awards made). 

11.4.7 Long-term incentives granted or vested during the year

Options	–	under	the	Perilya	Limited	Employee	Share	Option	Plan	

During the financial year no options were granted under the share option plan (2007: 500,000) while 2,400,000 options (2007: 3,075,000) 
vested to key management personnel who are listed below and who had existing entitlements under this plan. No options have been issued 
under the share option plan since July 2006. 

Further details on the terms and conditions of the options are set out in sections 11.6.1 and in Tables 8 and 9 below.

Table	5	–	Options	granted	or	vested	in	2008	to	key	management	personnel

	 		 	 	 number	of	optionS	 number	of	optionS
	 	 	 	 grAnted	during	tHe	yeAr	 	veSted	during	tHe	yeAr

nAme	 	 2008	 2007 2008 2007

Len Jubber - - 1,000,000 @ $1.13 3,000,000 @ $1.01

Tim Manners - - 300,000 @ $2.47 -

Trevor Mulroney - - - -

Peter Eggleston1 - 300,000 @ $3.46 300,000 @ $3.46 
    100,000 @ $3.89 100,000 @ $3.89
    100,000 @ $4.32 100,000 @ $4.32 -

Tim Carstens  - - 300,000 @ $1.31 -

Rob Scargill - - 300,000 @ $1.31 -

1. Mr Eggleston’s options vested in accordance with terms associated with his redundancy.

Under the terms and condition of the Employee Share Option Plan (as approved by shareholders) the options granted vest immediately there is 
a change of control in Perilya and any unvested options lapse on cessation of employment, unless otherwise approved by the Board or under 
special circumstances such as retirement or redundancy. 

During the year Mr Eggleston, who was made redundant on 18 April 2008, was entitled to retain his 500,000 options based on a Board approved 
special circumstance. The options vested on his retrenchment and are exercisable and expire in accordance with the original grant terms.

During the financial year ending 30 June 2008, 1,000,000 options at an exercise price of $1.13 per share vested to Mr Jubber. Under the terms of 
issue these options lapse on 26 October 2008, being 90 days after his resignation, unless otherwise exercised.

The options vested during the year to Mr Scargill and Mr Carstens lapsed in April 2008 as a result of their resignation.
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11.4.7 Long-term incentives granted or vested during the year (continued)

Performance Rights – under Perilya Long Term Incentive Share Plan (LTIP) 

During the financial year initial grants of performance rights, totalling 683,200, were made to key management personnel (see Table 13) in 
accordance with the operation of this Plan as agreed to by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in October 2007 (2007: nil). 

Subsequent to the end of the year, on 21 August 2008, the LTIP was suspended and is presently under review by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. 

Further details on the terms and conditions of the performance rights are set out in sections 11.6.3 and in Tables 12 and 13 below.

Table	6	–	Performance	rights	granted	or	vested	in	2008	to	key	management	personnel

	 		 	 	 number	of	performAnce	rigHtS	 number	of	performAnce	rigHtS
	 	 	 	 grAnted	during	tHe	yeAr	 	veSted	during	tHe	yeAr

nAme	 	 2008 2007 2008 2007

Len Jubber * 334,000 - - -

Paul Arndt - - - -

Tim Manners 81,500 - - -

Bruce Hooper * 78,700 - - -

Trevor Mulroney * 21,900 - - -

Peter Eggleston * 78,700 - - -

Tim Carstens * - - - -

Rob Scargill * 88,400 - - -

 * the performance rights granted during the year have lapsed on resignation or retrenchment of the key management personnel.

The assessed fair value at the grant date of performance rights to the individual is allocated over the period from grant date to vesting date, and 
the amount is included in the remuneration as set out in Table 4 above. 

11.5  CONTRACTS FOR KEy MANAgEMENT PERSONNEL – CURRENTLy EMPLOyED IN THE gROUP AT THE DATE OF THIS REPORT

A summary of the key contractual provisions for each of the current key management personnel (excluding the Executive Chairman and non-
executive directors) is set out in Table 7 below.

Table	7	-	Contractual	provisions	for	key	management	personnel

	 	 	 employing	 contrAct	 notice	period	 mAXimum	 notice	period	 terminAtion	
nAme	And	Job	title	 compAny	 durAtion	 compAny		 Sti	 employee		 proviSion	 		

Paul Arndt – EGM Perilya No fixed term 6 months 30% of fixed 3 months No entitlement to termination 
Operations & Development Limited and reviewed  annual reward  payment other than payment 
    annually    of accrued leave. 

Tim Manners – GM Finance Perilya No fixed term 3 months 30% of fixed 3 months No entitlement to termination 
   Limited and reviewed  annual reward  payment other than payment 
    annually    of accrued leave.  

11.6 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

11.6.1 Employee Share Option Plan (as approved by shareholders in November 2003 and reconfirmed in November 2006)

At the company’s Annual General Meeting in November 2006, shareholders re-approved the Employee Share Option Plan.

As part of the long-term incentive reward to executives, options over Perilya Limited shares were previously granted to a number of the key 
management personnel and senior managers under the terms of the Perilya Limited Employee Share Option Plan, for no consideration.

Options were granted with an average life of 6 years commencing from the grant date and generally vest, and are exercisable, in up to four 
annual tranches. 

Further details on the how the Employee Share Option Plan operates are set out in the rules and in the notice of the 2006 Annual General 
Meeting at which the plan was re-approved by shareholders. Copies of the plan are available on the company’s website. 

No options have been issued under this plan since July 2006.
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11.6.1.1  Options held by key management personnel and general terms and conditions

The terms and conditions of options over Perilya Limited shares, affecting the remuneration of the key management personnel in office at the 
end of the reporting period or in future reporting periods, are set out below in Table 8.

Table	8	–	Key	terms	over	options	held	by	key	management	personnel	as	at	30	June	2008

nAme	 	 grAnt	dAte	 optionS	 eXerciSe	price	 fAir	vAlue	per	option	At	grAnt	dAte	 veSting	dAte	 eXpiry	dAte

Len Jubber 31 May 2005 2,000,000 1,000,000 @ $1.13 $0.28 16 May 2008  16 May 2011
     1,000,000 @ $1.26 $0.29 16 May 2009 16 May 2012

Tim Manners 28 Mar 2006 500,000 300,000 @ $2.47 $0.78 7 Mar 2008 7 Mar 2011
     100,000 @ $2.67 $0.81 7 Mar 2009 7 Mar 2012
     100,000 @ $2.97 $0.82 7 Mar 2010 7 Mar 2013

Subsequent to the end of the year Mr Jubber’s contract of service ended on 31 July 2008. In accordance with the Employee Share Option Plan 
1,000,000 options with an exercise price of $1.26 per share lapsed and the balance of 1,000,000 shares exercisable at $1.13 per share will lapse 
on 26 October 2008 (90 days after the end of Mr Jubber’s services contract).

11.6.1.2 Movement in and vesting of share options holdings

The movement in option holdings for key management personnel, during the financial year, are set out below in Table 9.

Table	9	–	Movement	of	options	granted	to	key	management	personnel	during	2008

  	 bAlAnce	At	 grAnted	during	 eXerciSed	 	 bAlAnce	At	 veSted	 veSted	And
	 	 	 tHe	StArt	 tHe	yeAr	AS	 during	 		 tHe	end	 during	 eXerciSAble	At	tHe
nAme	 	 of	tHe	yeAr	 remunerAtion	 tHe	yeAr	 lApSed	 of	tHe	yeAr	 tHe	yeAr	 end	of	tHe	yeAr

Len Jubber   2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Paul Arndt  - - - - - - -

Tim Manners  500,000 - - - 500,000 300,000 300,000

Peter Eggleston (retrenched) 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 500,000

Tim Carstens (resigned) 600,000 - - (600,000) - 300,000 -

Rob Scargill (resigned) 600,000 - - (600,000) - 300,000 -

Total   4,200,000 - - (1,200,000) 3,000,000 2,400,000 1,800,000

Subsequent to the end of the year Mr Jubber’s contract of service ended on 31 July 2008. In accordance with the Employee Share Option Plan 
1,000,000 options with an exercise price of $1.26 per share lapsed and the balance of 1,000,000 shares exercisable at $1.13 per share will lapse 
on 26 October 2008 (90 days after the end of Mr Jubber’s services contract).

Under the terms of Mr Eggleston’s retrenchment, the Board determined that this was a special circumstance and accordingly, he was entitled to 
retain the options on the terms and conditions on which they were granted.

11.6.1.3  Shares provided on exercise of options

There were no ordinary shares in the company issued, as a result of the exercise of remuneration options during the year, to key 
management personnel.
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11.6.1.4  Other options remuneration information

Further details relating to options and the portion of key management personnel remuneration related to equity compensation in the 2008 year 
are set out below in Table 10.

Table	10	–	Value	of	options	as	at	30	June	2008

 	 	 percentAge	of	 	
	 	 	 remunerAtion	 vAlue	of	optionS	grAnted,	eXerciSed	or	lApSed/cAncelled	in
nAme	 	 conSiSting	of	optionS	 12	montHS	ended	30	June	2008

	 	 	 	 grAnted	(1)	 eXerciSed	 lApSed/cAncelled	(1)	 totAl

	 	 	 	 $		 $	 $	 $	

Len Jubber  16% - - - -

Tim Manners 28% - - - -

Peter Eggleston 40% - - - -

Tim Carstens - - - (603,000) (603,000)

Rob Scargill - - - (603,000) (603,000)

(1) Based on fair value at time of grant

11.6.2 Perilya Limited Employee Share Acquisition Plan

The Perilya Limited Employee Share Acquisition Plan (“ESAP”) was implemented in August 2006, to acquire ordinary fully paid shares in Perilya 
on-market for the benefit of employees. The ESAP aims to provide a sense of ownership in Perilya and to align their interest with shareholders.

Under the terms of the ESAP, employees receive an initial one-off free issue of shares, equal to 10% of their annual salary. In addition, 
employees may elect to purchase additional shares by way of salary sacrifice, and Perilya will match the employee’s contributions, dollar for 
dollar, up to a further 10% of the employee’s annual salary. Shares acquired in the ESAP are subject to restrictions of up to two years from 
the date of purchase. Shares which have not met the vesting conditions (other than shares purchased using an employee’s before-tax salary 
contributions) are forfeited if the employee leaves Perilya.

All shares acquired under the ESAP are held by the plan’s Trustee, CPU Share Plans Pty Ltd (managed by Computershare Limited) for the 
benefit of employees. All shares acquired in the plan are purchased on-market by the Trustee and are entitled to dividends and voting rights. 
Voting rights are exercised by the Trustee on behalf of the employee as beneficiaries to the plan.

Key management personnel (other than the Executive Chairman and non-executive directors) have the opportunity to participate in the ESAP 
under the same terms and conditions as offered to all eligible employees who may participate in the ESAP.

Subsequent to the end of the year, on 21 August 2008, the ESAP was suspended and is presently under review by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. 

11.6.2.1  Movement in ESAP share holdings

Details of the movement of and shares held within the ESAP for key management personnel for 2008 year are set out below in Table 11.

Table	11	–	Movement	in	employer	funded	shares	for	key	management	personnel	in	the	Perilya	ESAP	during	2008	(1)

	 	 	 	 	 Sold	or	 	 	 	 bAlAnce	 totAl	vAlue	of
	 	 	 bAlAnce	At	tHe	 grAnted	during	 trAnferred	out	 	 	 	 currently	 SHAreS	Held	in
	 	 	 StArt	of	tHe	 tHe	yeAr	AS	 of	tHe	eSAp	 forfeited	 bAlAnce	At	tHe	 veSted	during	 SubJect	to	plAn	 tHe	plAn
nAme	 	 yeAr	 remunerAtion(1)	 during	tHe	yeAr	 during	tHe	yeAr	 end	of	tHe	yeAr	 tHe	yeAr	 reStrictionS	 $(2)	

Len Jubber 26,799 40,305 - - 67,104 8,044 59,060 167,756

Paul Arndt - 55,469 - - 55,469 - 55,469 68,206

Tim Manners 9,695 10,804 - - 20,499 3,641 16,858 49,777

Bruce Hooper 5,779 15,592 - - 21,371 2,531 18,840 52,831

Trevor Mulroney - 6,304 - - 6,304 - 6,304 23,799

Peter Eggleston 12,549 8,222 (11,876) (8,895) - 11,876 - -

Tim Carstens 8,637 - (4,318) (4,319) - 4,318 - -

Rob Scargill 10,361 2,643 (4,064) (8,940) - 4,064 - -

Total  73,820 139,339 (20,258) (22,154) 170,747 34,474 156,531 362,369

(1) Includes:
a. an initial one-off grant of shares (made on commencement of the ESAP or shortly after the commencement of employment) based on 10% of the employees salary at the time of the grant; and 
b. employer co-contribution shares funded by the company, where key management personnel have elected to salary sacrifice to acquire additional shares in Perilya (but excludes those shares 

acquired by the key management personnel using their salary sacrifice contributions).
(2) Based on the assessed fair value at the date that shares are allocated to employees within the ESAP. 
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11.6.3 Perilya Long Term Incentive Share Plan

At the company’s Annual General Meeting in October 2007, shareholders approved the Perilya Long Term Incentive Share Plan (LTIP). The plan’s 
features include the grant of performance rights which are dependent on performance hurdles against total shareholder returns (“TSR”).

Subsequent to the end of the year, on 21 August 2008, the LTIP was suspended and is presently under review by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. The Board plans to align future long-term rewards having regard to the resized organisation, which effected subsequent 
to the end of the reporting period on 1 September 2008 and accordingly, the LTIP will likely be terminated and wound-up in due course.

11.6.3.1  Performance rights held by key management personnel and general terms and conditions

The terms and conditions of performance rights over Perilya Limited shares, affecting the remuneration of the key management personnel in 
office at the end of the reporting period or in future reporting periods, are set out below in Table 12.

Table	12	–	Key	terms	over	performance	rights	held	by	key	management	personnel	as	at	30	June	2008

	 	 	 	 AllocAtion	 fAir	vAlue	 	 performAnce	 	 	
	 	 	 	 dAte	for	 At	grAnt	 veSting	 condition	for	 	 ApplicAtion	of	 eXpiry
	 nAme	 grAnt	dAte	 grAnt	 dAte1	 dAte	 veSting	to	occur2	 veSting	 reteSting	 dAte

Len Jubber 10 Dec 2007 10 Dec 2007 $1.15 - If Perilya TSR Full vesting occurs Initial testing 5 years from 
       performance if Perilya’s TSR occurs after 3 the date the 
Paul Arndt - - - - equals or is at, or exceeds, years with rights are 
       exceeds 50th 75th percentile of retesting at the granted 
Tim Manners 10 Dec 2007 10 Dec 2007 $1.15 30 Sept 2010 comparator comparator group 4th and 5th 
       group percentile scaling down on years  
Bruce Hooper 10 Dec 2007 10 Dec 2007 $1.15 - for relevant straight line basis 
       period then to 50% vesting 
Trevor Mulroney 10 Dec 2007 10 Dec 2007 $1.15 - rights vest based for median 
       on a sliding scale performance

1.  The fair value, using a binomial option pricing model, at the time of grant, using a 70% volatility rate and an interest rate of 10% was $1.15 per right and expensed over a 3 year period.

2. In the case of special circumstances, as determined by the Board, the performance hurdle may be waived and the Board may determine in its absolute discretion to allocate shares against all or part of 
the unvested performance rights.

Additionally:

• if the employment of any executive who participates in the plan, is terminated for cause or by way of resignation then any unvested rights 
will immediately lapse unless the Board determines otherwise; and

• if threshold performance is not met at the final retest date then any unvested rights that remain will also lapse immediately.

11.6.3.2  Movement in performance right holdings and share grants made on vesting

The movement in performance right holdings and share grants made on vesting of rights, for key management personnel, during the financial 
year, are set out below in Table 13.

Table	13	–	Movement	of	performance	rights	granted	to	key	management	personnel	during	2008

	 	 	 bAlAnce	At	tHe	 grAnted	during	tHe	 veSted	during	 	 bAlAnce	At	tHe	 SHAreS	grAnted	on
nAme	 	 StArt	of	tHe	yeAr	 yeAr	AS	remunerAtion	 tHe	yeAr	 lApSed/cAncelled	 end	of	tHe	yeAr	 veSting	of	rigHtS

Len Jubber * - 334,000 - (334,000) - -

Paul Arndt - - - - - -

Tim Manners - 81,500 - - 81,500 -

Bruce Hooper - 78,700 - (78,700) - -

Trevor Mulroney - 21,900 - (21,900) - -

Peter Eggleston - 78,700 - (78,700) - -

Tim Carstens - - - - - -

Rob Scargill - 88,400 - (88,400) - -

Total  - 683,200 - (601,700) 81,500 -

*  Rights granted to Mr Jubber lapsed upon his resignation in March 2008.
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11.6.3.3  Other performance rights remuneration information

Further details relating to performance rights and the portion of key management personnel remuneration related to equity compensation in 
the 2008 year are set out below in Table 14.

Table	14	–	Value	of	performance	rights	as	at	30	June	2008

	 	 	 percentAge	of	remunerAtion	 vAlue	of	performAnce	rigHtS	grAnted	or
	 	 	 conSiSting	of	performAnce	rigHtS	 lApSed/cAncelled	in	12	montHS	ended	30	June	2008

		 	 	 	 	 grAnted	(1)		 lApSed/cAncelled	 totAl
nAme	 	 	 	 	 $	 $	 $

Len Jubber  -  96,025 (96,025) -

Paul Arndt -  - - -

Tim Manners -  23,430 - 23,430

Bruce Hooper -  22,626 (22,626) -

Trevor Mulroney -  6,296 (6,296) -

Peter Eggleston -  17,598 (17,598) -

Tim Carstens -  - - -

Rob Scargill -  14,119 (14,119) -

(1) The fair value, using a binomial option pricing model, at the time of grant, using a 70% volatility rate and an interest rate of 10% was $1.15 per right and expensed over a 3 year period.

11.7  OTHER REMUNERATION INFORMATION: CASH BONUS, OPTIONS, PERFORMANCE RIgHTS AND EMPLOyER FUNDED SHARES IN ESAP

For each grant of ESAP shares, performance rights and/or options included in the above tables, the percentage of the available bonus or grant 
that was paid, or that vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the person did not meet the service and 
performance criteria, are set out in Tables 15 to 17 below. 

11.7.1 Cash bonuses

As already noted at section 11.4.5, no cash bonuses were paid in respect of the 2007/08 financial year.

11.7.2 Options

The following table details the percentage of the available grant that vested in the financial year and the percentage forfeited because the 
person did not meet either/or service and performance criteria specified. 

Table	15	–	Option	grants	as	at	30	June	2008

	 	 	 	 veSted	in	 lApSed/cAncelled	 finAnciAl	yeAr	in		 minimum	totAl	 mAXimum	totAl
	 	 	 finAnciAl	yeAr	 finAnciAl	yeAr	 in	finAnciAl	yeAr	 wHicH	grAntS	mAy	veSt	 vAlue	of	grAnt	yet	 vAlue	of	grAnt
	 	 	 grAnted	 2008	 2008	 for	unveSted	grAntS			 to	veSt	 yet	to	veSt
nAme	 	 yr	 %	 %	 yr	 $	 $

Len Jubber 2005 100% - 2008 nil nil
   2005 - - 2009 nil 64,804

Tim Carstens 2006 100% 100% n/a nil nil
   2006 - 100% n/a nil nil
   2006 - 100% n/a nil nil
   2006 - 100% n/a nil nil

Tim Manners 2006 100% - 2008 nil nil
   2006 - - 2009 nil 18,768
   2006 - - 2010 nil 34,700

Peter Eggleston 2007 100% - 2008 nil nil
   2007 100% - 2009 nil nil
   2007 100% - 2010 nil nil

Rob Scargill 2006 100% 100% n/a nil nil
   2006 - 100% n/a nil nil
   2006 - 100% n/a nil nil
   2006 - 100% n/a nil nil

Directors’ report (continued)
30 June 2008
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11.7.3 ESAP Shares

Table	16	–	ESAP	grants	as	at	30	June	2008

	 	 	 	 veSted	in	 lApSed/forfeited	 finAnciAl	yeAr	in		 minimum	totAl	 mAXimum	totAl
	 	 	 finAnciAl	yeAr	 finAnciAl	yeAr	 in	finAnciAl	yeAr	 wHicH	grAntS	mAy	veSt	 vAlue	of	grAnt	yet	 vAlue	of	grAnt
	 	 	 grAnted	 2008	(1)	 2008	 for	unveSted	grAntS			 to	veSt	 yet	to	veSt
nAme	 	 yr	 %	 %	 yr	 $	 $

Len Jubber 2007 27% - 2009 nil 15,490
   2008 - - 2010 nil 62,112

Paul Arndt 2008 - - 2009 nil 43,413
     - 2010 nil 17,113

Tim Manners 2007 34% - 2009 nil 3,830
   2008 - - 2010 nil 16,275

Bruce Hooper 2007 43% - 2009 nil 5,367
   2008 - - 2010 nil 23,964

Trevor Mulroney 2008 - - 2009 nil 9,778
     - 2010 nil 1,921

(1)  The percentage vested represents the dollar value amount of the total grant, for the grant year, that has fully met vesting conditions as at reporting date and is no longer considered ‘at risk’. 

Shares acquired under the ESAP vest, over periods of 12 to 24 months for employer funded free issue shares and over 24 months for employer 
funded matching contributions for employee salary-sacrificed purchases, provided the vesting conditions are met. No shares will vest if the 
conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value of shares yet to vest is nil. 

As noted above, subsequent to the end of the year, the ESAP was suspended and is presently under review by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. However, as at the date of this report it is expected that grants already provided under ESAP will be expected to run 
over the normal term of their vesting conditions and therefore the maximum value of shares yet to vest has been determined as the amount of 
the grant date fair value of the shares that is yet to be expensed.

11.7.4 Performance rights

Table	17	–	Performance	right	grants	as	at	30	June	2008

	 	 	 	 veSted	in	 lApSed/cAncelled	 finAnciAl	yeAr	in		 minimum	totAl	 mAXimum	totAl
	 	 	 finAnciAl	yeAr	 finAnciAl	yeAr	 in	finAnciAl	yeAr	 wHicH	grAntS	mAy	veSt	 vAlue	of	grAnt	yet	 vAlue	of	grAnt
	 	 	 grAnted	 2008	 2008	 for	unveSted	grAntS			 to	veSt	 yet	to	veSt
nAme	 	 yr	 %	 %	 yr	 $	 $

Len Jubber - - - - - -

Paul Arndt - - - - - -

Tim Manners 2008 - - 2011 nil nil

Bruce Hooper - - - - - -

Trevor Mulroney - - - - - -

(1) Assuming that shares vest in minimum conditions set for the award i.e. before retest provisions are applied 

Performance rights acquired under the Perilya Long Term Incentive Share Plan vest, over a period of 3 years, provided the vesting conditions are 
met. If the relevant performance conditions are not met there are retest provisions that extend the vesting conditions out to 5 years. No shares 
will vest if the conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value of shares yet to vest is nil. 

As noted above, subsequent to the end of the year the LTIP was suspended and is presently under review by the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee. Accordingly, the LTIP will likely be terminated and wound-up in due course therefore the maximum value of shares yet 
to vest has also been determined as nil.
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11.8 REMUNERATION OF ExECUTIvE CHAIRMAN AND NON-ExECUTIvE DIRECTORS

11.8.1 Remuneration policy for Executive Chairman and non-executive directors

The Board recognises that, in order to achieve Perilya’s financial and operating objectives, Perilya must be able to attract, retain and motivate 
talented Executive (Non-executive) Chairman and non-executive directors. 

Perilya’s Executive Chairman and non-executive director remuneration policy aims to reward the Executive Chairman and non-executive 
directors fairly and responsibly having regard to the:

• level of fees paid to directors relative to other comparative sized Australian mining companies,

• size and complexity of Perilya’s operations; and

• responsibilities and work requirements of individual Board members. 

Fees paid to the Executive Chairman and non-executive directors of Perilya are reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee and based on advice from external remuneration consultants. 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the total amount paid to the Executive Chairman and non-executive directors was $756,995 
(2007: $384,931) which includes $312,500 paid to Mr O’Connor for his services as Executive Chairman from February 2008 (see section 11.8.6 
for further information). 

11.8.2  Directors’ fees limits

Non-executive directors’ fees are determined within an aggregated directors’ fee limit of $500,000, which was approved by shareholders at the 
2006 Annual General Meeting. 

11.8.3 Directors’ fees framework

The Executive Chairman and non-executive director’s remuneration consists only of base fees (inclusive of superannuation) and committee 
fees, details of which are set in Table 18 below. 

Fees payable to the Executive Chairman and non-executive directors are reviewed annually and fixed by the Board. The fees paid to non-
executive directors remained unchanged during the 2007/08 financial year. Subsequent to the end of the year the fees paid to the Chairman 
and non-executive directors was reduced in line with the resizing of the organisation.

Board fees are not paid to executive directors as the time spent on Board work and the responsibilities of Board membership are considered in 
determining the remuneration package provided as part of their normal employment conditions.

Table	18	–	Annual	Board	and	committee	fees	payable	to	Executive	Chairman	and	non-executive	directors

	 		 	 AnnuAl	feeS	from	 AnnuAl	feeS	from
	 	 	 1	July	2007	 1	october	2008
	 	 	 (incluSive	of		 (incluSive	of
	 	 	 SuperAnnuAtion)	 SuperAnnuAtion)
	 	 	 $	 $

Base	Fee	 	

Chairman of the Board  140,000 98,100

Non-executive director  70,000 54,500

Additional	fees	 	

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee  15,000 -

Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee  7,500 -

Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and/or HSE Committee 12,000 -

Member of the Board Remuneration and Nomination Committee and/or HSE Committee 6,000 -

Subsequent to the end of the year on 31 August 2008, the Board suspended the HSE Committee and absorbed its function into the full 
Board on the basis that health, safety and environment matters are dealt with as a standing agenda item for future Board meetings. 
Accordingly, membership fees to the HSE Committee ceased on 31 August 2008.

Directors’ report (continued)
30 June 2008
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11.8.4 Retirement benefits

No retirement benefits are paid other than the statutory superannuation contributions of 9% required under Australian superannuation 
guarantee legislation. Superannuation amounts are deducted from the directors’ overall fee entitlements.

11.8.5 Remuneration for Executive Chairman and non-executive directors for the 2008 year

Details on the nature and amount of remuneration of Perilya’s Executive Chairman and non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2008 
are as follows.

Table	19	–	Remuneration	of	Executive	Chairman	and	non-executive	directors

	 	 	 	 director	 boArd		 	 	
	 	 	 	 feeS	 committee	feeS	 otHer	(5)	 SuperAnnuAtion	 totAl
nAme	 	 poSition	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $

Patrick O’Connor  Executive Chairman     
2008   128,440 13,301 312,500 12,757 466,998
2007   110,000 15,000 - 11,250 136,250

Peter Harley  Director (non-executive)     
2008   64,220 18,351 - 7,431 90,002
2007   50,000 17,000 - 6,030 73,030

Phillip Lockyer Director (non-executive)     
2008   64,220 23,393 - 7,885 95,498
2007   50,000 16,250 - 5,963 72,213

Karen Field (1) Director (non-executive)     
2008   53,517 13,663 - 6,046 73,226
2007   - - - - -

Evert van den Brand (2) Director (non-executive)     
2008   53,517 1,236 - 4,928 59,681
2007   - - - - -

Chang Keun Choi (3) Director (non-executive)     
2007   50,000 - - 4,500 54,500

Guy Travis (4) Director (non-executive)     
2007   44,897 - - 4,041 48,938

Total      
2008   363,914 69,944 312,500 39,047 785,405
2007   321,147 32,000 - 31,784 384,931

(1) Ms Karen Field was appointed as a director effective 24 August 2007.
(2) Mr Evert van den Brand was appointed as a director effective 17 September 2007.
(3) Mr Chang Keun Choi resigned as a director on 26 June 2007.
(4) Mr Guy Travis resigned as a director on 25 May 2007.
(5) A consulting fee of $312,500 was paid to a related party company of Mr Patrick O’Connor for services performed by Mr O’Connor as Executive Chairman for the period 

February 2008 to June 2008 – see also 11.8.6.The total shown excludes GST. 

11.8.6 Further information related to fees paid to Mr O’Conner for Executive Chairman duties

An executive service fee was agreed and paid to a related party company of Mr O’Connor for compensation related to his Executive Chairman 
duties for the Group from the period of his appointment as Executive Chairman in February 2008 through to June 2008. Subsequent to this, an 
agreement has been reached to extend these services to 30 November 2008 at which point it is expected that Mr O’Conner will revert to his role 
as non-executive Chairman. The fee paid is a fixed fee per month of $62,500 and no other salary related costs are associated with the payment.
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Other information
ORDINARy SHARE HOLDINgS

Details of Perilya ordinary shares held (directly or beneficially) by the each of the group’s key management personnel (excluding non-executive 
directors) in office at the end of the reporting period are set out below in Table 20. 

Table	20	–	Shareholdings	of	key	management	personnel	at	30	June	2008(1)

	 	 	 bAlAnce	At	tHe	StArt	 number	received	on	 otHer	cHAngeS	 bAlAnce	At	tHe
nAme	 	 of	tHe	yeAr	 eXerciSe	of	optionS	 during	tHe	yeAr		 end	of	tHe	yeAr

Paul Arndt - - - -

Tim Manners 7,500 - - 7,500

Bruce Hooper - - - -

Trevor Mulroney  - - - -

(1) Excludes ESAP related share holdings as these shares are controlled by the Trust

LOANS TO DIRECTORS AND ExECUTIvES

During the financial year and up to and including the date of this report no loans have been made to any directors or executives of the Group.

Rounding of amounts
The company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the 
“rounding off” of amounts in the director’s report. Amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order 
to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

Patrick O’Connor 
Executive Chairman

Perth, Western Australia 
30 September 2008

Directors’ report (continued)
30 June 2008
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Auditor’s independence declaration 
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	 	 	 conSolidAted

      2008 2007
     notes $000 $000

Revenue from continuing operations   4 273,124 365,793

Other income   5 25,515 13,285

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress    27,923 (8,525)

Raw materials, power and consumables used    (59,111) (60,178)

Employee benefits expense    (81,243) (65,077)

Depreciation and amortisation expense   6 (48,334) (31,265)

External services and consultants    (49,635) (37,861)

Freight and handling    (30,526) (19,167)

Royalties    (6,871) (10,215)

Foreign exchange loss    (3,544) (3,571)

Other expenses from ordinary activities    (13,813) (13,772)

Impairment losses   6 (188,211) (1,315)

Provision for inter-company loans    - -

Finance costs    (12,781) (7,707)

Share of loss from associates accounted for using the equity method   (521) (385)

(Loss)/profit before income tax    (168,028) 120,040

Income tax benefit/(expense)    25,772 (34,929)

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations    (142,256) 85,111

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations   7 2,021 (2,628)

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to members of Perilya Limited    (140,235) 82,483

	 	 	 		 	 	 centS	 centS

(Loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the company

Basic (loss)/earnings per share    (73.1) 44.7

Diluted earnings per share    (73.1) 44.5 

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company

Basic (loss)/earnings per share    (72.1) 43.3

Diluted earnings per share    (72.1) 43.1

The	above	income	statements	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes

Consolidated income statements
for the yeAr ended 30 June 2008
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	 	 	 conSolidAted

      2008 2007
     notes $000 $000

ASSETS   

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents   8 26,532 147,455
Trade and other receivables    11,690 37,611
Current tax assets    2,967 -
Inventories    31,300 14,709
Available-for-sale financial assets   9 40,856 4,344
Derivative financial instruments    129,143 16,397

Total current assets    242,488 220,516

Non-current assets   

Restricted cash    10,444 25,592
Trade and other receivables    37 36
Inventories    8,754 -
Available-for-sale financial assets    - 674
Investments accounted for using the equity method    - 293
Other financial assets    - -
Deferred tax     - 33,886
Exploration, development and evaluation expenditure    15,193 33,169
Mine properties in use    - 64,879
Property, plant and equipment    30,818 69,984

Total non-current assets    65,246 228,513

Total assets    307,734 449,029

LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables    51,940 46,460
Borrowings    20,211 10,460
Current tax liabilities    - 27,020
Provisions    14,721 7,583
Prepaid income    1,938 4,611
Deferred option premiums    30,332 -
Derivative financial instruments    7,701 99,007

Total current liabilities    126,843 195,141

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings    5,794 5,191
Provisions    24,777 26,754
Prepaid income    2,710 38,274
Derivative financial instruments    - 34,396
Deferred tax    - -

Total non-current liabilities    33,281 104,615

Total liabilities    160,124 299,756

Net assets    147,610 149,273

EQUITy    

Contributed equity    106,539 106,047
Reserves    62,001 (80,008)
Retained (losses)/profits    (20,930) 123,234

Total equity    147,610 149,273

The	above	balance	sheets	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes

Consolidated balance sheet
for the yeAr ended 30 June 2008
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	 	 	 	 	 contributed	 retAined	 	 totAl	
	 	 	 	 	 equity	 eArningS	 reServeS	 equity
conSolidAted	 	 	 $000	 $000	 $000	 $000

Balance at 1 July 2006  102,970 67,592 (39,141) 131,421

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (net of tax) - - (2,262) (2,262)

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges (net of tax)  - - (42,921) (42,921)

Net expense recognised directly in equity  - - (45,183) (45,183)

Profit for the year  - 82,483 - 82,483

Total recognised income and expense for the year  - 82,483 (45,183) 37,300

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs  9,484 - - 9,484

Dividends provided for or paid  - (26,841) - (26,841)

Employee share options – value of employee services  - - 1,377 1,377

Perilya Employee Share Acquisition plan  (6,407) - 2,939 (3,468)

    3,077 (26,841) 4,316 (19,448)

Balance at 30 June 2007  106,047 123,234 (80,008) 149,273

	 	 	 	 	 	 AccumulAted
	 	 	 	 	 	 loSSeS	
	 	 	 	 	 contributed	 /retAined	 	 totAl	
	 	 	 	 	 equity	 eArningS	 reServeS	 equity

		 	 	 	 	 $000	 $000	 $000	 $000

Balance at 1 July 2007  106,047 123,234 (80,008) 149,273

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (net of tax) - - 766 766

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges (net of tax)  - - 140,022 140,022

Net income recognised directly in equity  - - 140,788 140,788

Loss for the year  - (140,235) - (140,235)

Total recognised income and expense for the year  - (140,235) 140,788 553

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs  1,020 - - 1,020

Dividends provided for or paid  - (3,929) - (3,929)

Employee share options – value of employee services  - - 520 520

Perilya Employee Share Acquisition plan  (528) - 701 173

    492 (3,929) 1,221 (2,216)

Balance at 30 June 2008  106,539 (20,930) 62,001 147,610

The	above	statements	of	changes	in	equity	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes	

Consolidated statements of changes in equity
for the yeAr ended 30 June 2008
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	 	 	 conSolidAted

      2008 2007
     notes $000 $000

CASH FLOwS FROM OPERATINg ACTIvITIES   

Cash receipts in the course of operations (inclusive of GST)    278,429 379,397

Cash payments in the course of operations (inclusive of GST)    (262,656) (228,820)

     15,773 150,577

Interest received    6,533 8,722

Interest and other finance costs paid    (1,964) (705)

Income taxes paid    (30,264) (26,526)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities    (9,922) 132,068

CASH FLOwS FROM INvESTINg ACTIvITIES   

Payments for mine properties    (48,154) (41,887)

Payments for property, plant and equipment    (29,661) (20,105)

Payments for exploration and evaluation    (22,331) (14,979)

Payments for purchase of available-for-sale financial assets    (28,470) (100)

(Payments for)/returns of performance guarantee bonds    15,147 (15,032)

Payments for other bonds    (3) (10)

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets     44,553 14,359

Proceeds from sale of tenements    2,555 318

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    6,233 -

Funds advanced to associates    (350) (625)

Net cash outflow from investing activities    (60,481) (78,061)

CASH FLOwS FROM FINANCINg ACTIvITIES   

Proceeds from issues of shares and other equity securities    354 3,842

Payments for shares acquired by the Perilya Employee Share Acquisition Plan   (3,112) (6,694)

Dividends paid to company’s shareholders    (3,423) (20,950)

Proceeds from borrowings    40,000 -

Repayment of borrowings    (38,090) (3,946)

Repayment of finance lease liabilities    (6,258) (3,852)

Funds (paid to)/received from subsidiaries    - -

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities    (10,529) (31,600)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (80,932) 22,407

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    147,455 125,048

Reclassification of cash to available-for-sale financial assets    (39,991) -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year   8 26,532 147,455 

The	above	cash	flow	statements	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the yeAr ended 30 June 2008
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This concise financial report relates to the consolidated entity of Perilya Limited (“the Group” or “the consolidated entity”) consisting of 
the parent entity Perilya Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2008. The accounting policies 
adopted have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated in note 2 below.

The company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the 
‘’rounding off’’ of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the concise financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class 
Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

1. Presentation currency
The presentation currency used in this concise financial report is Australian dollars.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those disclosed in the annual financial report for the year ended 30 June 2007 except for 
the following:

(a) Adoption of new accounting standards

The Group has adopted AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures during the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2007.

3. Segment information

(a) Description of segments

Business	segments

Having completed the sale of its gold assets, including the Daisy Milano mine in November 2007, the Group is currently organised on a global 
basis into the following divisions by product and service type.

 Base metals mining:  Mining and extraction of base metal ores primarily for zinc, lead and silver

 Exploration:   Exploration for and evaluation of base metal ore deposits

 Investment and administration: Investment and administration of the corporate office

Segment disclosures below include a discontinued operation segment which relates to those revenues and expenses that were previously 
disclosed under ‘gold mining’ in segment disclosures. For further information on the sale of our gold mining operation and associated gold 
assets see note 7.

Geographical	segments

Although the consolidated entity’s divisions are managed on a global basis they operate in two main geographical areas with primary 
operations, including all current extractive operations, been undertaken in Australia, the home country of the parent entity with secondary 
operations (exploration) and principal customers in the South East Asia region.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2008
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(a) Primary reporting format – business segments

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 diSpoSAl	group	-	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 diScontinued
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 gold	mining
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 operAtion	pluS
	 	 	 bASe	metAlS	 	 inveStment	&	 totAl	continuing	 gold	eXplorAtion
	 	 	 mining	 eXplorAtion	 AdminiStrAtion	 operAtionS	 ASSetS	(note	7)	 conSolidAted
2008	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Sales to external customers 266,522 - - 266,522 5,277 271,799

Other revenue/income 6,453 42 25,622 32,117 46 32,163

Total segment revenue/income 272,975 42 25,622 298,639 5,323 303,962

Segment result (128,962) (38,420) (125) (167,507) 1,961 (165,546)

Share of net losses of associates    (521) - (521)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax    (168,028) 1,961 (166,067)

Income tax benefit    25,772 60 25,832

Profit/(Loss) for the year    (142,256) 2,021 (140,235)

Segment assets # 193,909 15,193 87,381 296,483 - 296,483

Unallocated assets      2,967

Total assets      299,450

Segment liabilities * 130,700 - 20,339 151,039 - 151,039

Unallocated liabilities      801

Total liabilities      151,840

Investments in associates - - - - - -

Acquisitions of property, plant and 
equipment, intangibles and other 
non-current segment assets 80,137 - 3,467 83,604 - 83,604

Depreciation and amortisation expense 47,858 - 476 48,334 7 48,341

Impairment losses taken to income statement  134,877 38,462 14,872 188,211 - 188,211

Other non-cash expenses  10,832 - 520 11,352 - 11,352

#  Investment and administration segment assets include cash on deposit.
*  Base metals mining segment liabilities include derivative financial instrument liabilities and prepaid silver income.
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3. Segment information (continued)

(b) Primary reporting format – business segments (continued)

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 diSpoSAl	group	-	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 diScontinued
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 gold	mining
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 operAtion	pluS
	 	 	 bASe	metAlS	 	 inveStment	&	 totAl	continuing	 gold	eXplorAtion
	 	 	 mining	 eXplorAtion	 AdminiStrAtion	 operAtionS	 ASSetS	(note	7)	 conSolidAted
2007	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Sales to external customers 356,290 - - 356,290 21,078 377,368

Other revenue/income 690 185 21,913 22,788 19 22,807

Total segment revenue/income 356,980 185 21,913 379,078 21,097 400,175

Segment result 113,551 (313) 7,187 120,425 (4,794) 115,631

Share of net losses of associates    (385) - (385)

Profit before income tax    120,040 (4,794) 115,246

Income tax expense    (34,929) 2,166 (32,763)

Profit for the year    85,111 (2,628) 82,483

Segment assets # 221,009 33,169 153,304 407,482 7,661 415,143

Unallocated assets      33,886

Total assets      449,029

Segment liabilities * 258,034 - 11,309 269,343 1,145 270,488

Unallocated liabilities      29,268

Total liabilities      299,756

Investments in associates - - 293 293 - 293

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, 
intangibles and other non-current segment assets 60,687 - 648 61,335 4,359 65,694

Depreciation and amortisation expense 30,936 - 329 31,265 4,981 36,246

Impairment losses taken to income statement  - 498 817 1,315 4,648 5,963

Other non-cash expenses  7,133 - 1,192 8,325 12 8,337

# Investment and administration segment assets include cash on deposit.
*  Base metals mining segment liabilities include derivative financial instrument liabilities and prepaid silver income.

(c) Secondary reporting – geographical segments

 	 	 	 	 AcquiSitionS	of	property,	plAnt	
	 	 	 Segment	revenueS	from	SAleS	to	 	 And	equipment,	intAngibleS	And
	 	 	 eXternAl	cuStomerS	 Segment	ASSetS	 otHer	non-current	Segment	ASSetS

   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Australia 128,123 162,729 296,251 414,712 83,604 65,694

South East Asia 143,676 214,639 232 431 - -

   271,799 377,368 296,483 415,143 83,604 65,694

Unallocated assets   2,967 33,886  

Total assets   299,450 449,029  

Segment revenues from sales to external customers are allocated based on the country in which the customer is located. Segment assets and 
capital expenditure are allocated based on where the assets are located.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
30 June 2008
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(d) Notes to and forming part of the segment information

(i)	 Accounting	policies

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the entity and in accounting standard AASB 114 Segment Reporting.

Segment revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that can be 
allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist primarily of operating cash, 
receivables, inventories, mine properties, property, plant and equipment, available-for-sale financial assets and other intangible assets, net of 
related provisions. While most of these assets can be directly attributable to individual segments, the carrying amounts of certain assets used 
jointly by segments are allocated based on reasonable estimates of usage. Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other creditors and 
employee benefits. Segment assets and liabilities do not include income taxes.

(ii)	 Inter-segment	transfers

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are priced on an ‘’arm’s-length’’ basis and are 
eliminated on consolidation.

(iii)	Equity-accounted	investments

The Group owns 50% of Southstar Diamonds Limited, a mineral exploration company located in Australia which is accounted for using the 
equity method and is allocated to the investment and administration segment. 

4. Revenue
 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

From continuing operations  

Sales	revenue	 	

 Sale of goods    230,488 356,290 
 Accelerated release of pre-paid silver revenue    36,034 -

      266,522 356,290 
Other	revenue	 	

 Interest    6,339 8,723

 Dividends    - -

 Rent and sub-lease rentals    263 280

 Royalties    - 500

      273,124 365,793

From discontinued operations (note 7)  

Sales	revenue	-	Sale	of	goods    5,277 21,097

5. Other income
 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

From continuing operations   

 Net gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets    19,734 12,953

 Net gain on sale of tenements    42 185

 Gain on ineffective hedging    5,589 -

 Other income    150 147

      25,515 13,285

From discontinued operations (note 7)    46 -
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6. Expenses
 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

Profit/(loss) before income tax includes the following specific expenses:  

Depreciation:	 	

 Buildings    324 245

 Leasehold improvements    563 113

 Plant and equipment    11,769 10,248

Total depreciation    12,656 10,606

Amortisation of mine properties    35,678 20,659

Total depreciation and amortisation expense    48,334 31,265

Impairment	losses:	 	

 Mine properties    74,657 -

 Property, plant and equipment    61,112 -

 Exploration and development assets    38,462 498

 Available-for-sale financial assets    13,858 817

 Other assets    122 -

Total impairment losses    188,211 1,315

Finance	costs:	 	

 Imputed interest expense on pre-paid silver revenue    7,084 6,485

 Unwinding of discounts     3,748 648

 Interest and finance charges paid/payable    1,949 574

Total finance costs    12,781 7,707

7. Discontinued operation and disposal group of assets

(a) Description

In March 2007 Perilya Limited announced the suspension of operations at its Daisy Milano mine site and the transition of this operation to a 
care and maintenance basis pending its intended sale. On 27 August 2007 the sale of the Daisy Milano mine operation, along with other gold 
exploration projects, comprising Mount Monger, Moyagee and Honeymoon Well was announced. The sale of the Honeymoon Well asset, to MPI 
Nickel Pty Ltd, was completed on 12 November and the sale of the Daisy Milano mine operation and Mount Monger and Moyagee assets, to 
Silver Lake Resources Limited, was completed on 14 November 2007. The Daisy Milano operation disposed of is reported in this financial year 
as a discontinued operation and the group of assets disposed of as the ‘disposal group’.

Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the period to the date of disposal is set out below. Further information is set out 
in note 3 – Segment information.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
30 June 2008
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(b) Financial performance and cash flow information

The financial performance and cash flow information presented are for the period ended 14 November 2007 (2008 column) and the year ended 
30 June 2007.

 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

 Revenue    5,277 21,097

 Other income    46 -

 Expenses    (4,051) (25,891)

Profit/(loss) before income tax    1,272 (4,794)

 Income tax (expense)/benefit    266 2,166

Profit after income tax of discontinued operations     1,538 (2,628)

Gain on sale of the disposal group before income tax    689 -

 Income tax (expense)/benefit    (206) -

Gain on sale of the disposal group after income tax    483 -

Profit from discontinued operations    2,021 (2,628)

 Net cash inflow from operating activities    2,617 5,267

 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities*    7,000 (4,642)

 Net cash outflow from financing activities    (9,617) (625)

Net increase in cash generated by the operations    - -

* 2007 includes cash inflow from the sale of the disposal group of assets

(c) Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of the disposal group

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of sale (14 November 2007) and 30 June 2007 were:

	 	 	 conSolidAted

      november 2007 June 2007
      $000 $000

 Inventories    318 345

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure    6,016 5,751

 Mine properties    3,169 3,283

 Property, plant and equipment    1,949 1,973

Total assets    11,452 11,352

 Borrowings    391 649

Total liabilities     391 649

Net assets    11,061 10,703
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7. Discontinued operation and disposal group of assets (continued)

(d) Details of the sale of the disposal group

	 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

Net consideration received or receivable*   

 Cash    7,000 -

 Available-for-sale financial assets    4,500 -

 Gold sales royalty (at $5 per oz to maximum of $250,000)    250 -

Total net disposal consideration    11,750 -

Carrying amount of net assets sold    (11,061) -

gain on sale before income tax    689 -

 Income tax expense     (206) -

gain on sale after income tax    483 -

* net of transaction costs associated with sale

8. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year

	 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

Cash at bank and in hand    26,532 81,058

Deposits at call (d)    - 66,397

Cash at the end of the year as per statements of cash flows     26,532 147,455

(b) Total cash (current and non-current)

The above figures are reconciled to total cash (inclusive of restricted cash), at the end of the financial year as follows:

	 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

Balances as above    26,532 147,455

Add: Non-current - Restricted cash *    10,444 25,592

      36,976 173,047

* Restricted cash comprises deposits and commercial bills that are used for monetary backing for performance guarantees

(c) Cash at bank and on hand

Cash at bank is deposited in trading accounts with major financial institutions under normal terms and conditions appropriate to the operations 
of the accounts. These deposits earn interest at rates set by these institutions and for the period ending 30 June 2008 the weighted average 
interest rate on these accounts was 6.25% (2007: 4.45%). Cash on hand is non-interest bearing.

(d) Deposits at call and reclassification to available-for-sale financial assets

Investments in commercial paper were classified under cash and cash equivalents as ‘Deposits at call’ in prior years as it was considered to 
meet the definition of cash - being a highly liquid investment, readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant 
risk of change in value. As a result of conditions experienced in financial markets during the reporting period and at balance date the Group 
reclassified these deposits to ‘Current assets - Available-for-sale financial assets’ as these deposits were no longer considered to meet the 
definition of cash and cash equivalents - see ‘Cashflow statement’. Comparative data was not reclassified as at the prior reporting period these 
deposits were considered to meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
30 June 2008
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For the prior period, deposits at call comprised both floating and fixed interest rate deposits and commercial bills at rates ranging between 
6.00% and 7.13% with an average maturity of 56 days.

(e) Interest rate risk exposures

Further details of the Group’s exposure to interest rate changes on cash and cash equivalents are set out in the financial risk management note 
in the Annual Finance Report.

9. Current assets – available-for-sale financial assets
	 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

At beginning of the year    4,344 5,381

 Additions    33,273 100

 Disposals    (44,555) (14,253)

 Impairment of securities (d)    (4,017) -

 Impairment of commercial paper (d)    (9,841) -

 Net revaluation gain transferred to equity    20,175 11,042

 Reclassification of commercial paper from cash and cash equivalents (b)   39,991 -

 Reclassifications from non-current available-for-sale financial assets (c)   1,486 2,074

At end of year    40,856 4,344

These available-for-sale financial assets comprise: 

 Commercial paper (b)    30,150 -

 Listed Australian equities    8,887 4,342

 Unlisted Australian equities - options    1,305 2

 Unlisted overseas equities    514 -

      40,856 4,344

(a) Unlisted securities

Unlisted securities are traded in inactive markets. Fair values for these assets are established using the methodologies outlined in 
accounting policies.

(b) Commercial paper

As outlined in note 8, commercial paper was classified as cash and cash equivalents in prior years as it was considered to meet the definition of 
cash being a highly liquid investment, readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in value. As a 
result of conditions experienced in financial markets during the reporting period and at balance date, the Group reclassified these deposits to 
available-for-sale.

(c) Transfers from/to non-current available-for-sale financial assets

The Group designates available-for-sale assets as a current asset if it has an intention to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date and as a non-current asset if sale intentions are expected to be greater than 12 months of the balance sheet date. Sale intentions, 
and therefore asset classification between current and non-current for individual investment holdings, depend on a number of factors including 
re-assessment at each reporting date of individual holdings from strategic, asset return, and capital investment considerations.

(d) Impairment and risk exposure

In 2008 given objective evidence that the assets were impaired, an analysis was undertaken and the assets written down to assessed fair value 
with the impairment loss of $13,858,000 recognised against available-for-sale financial assets comprising $9,841,000 against commercial 
paper and $4,017,000 against securities (2007: nil). For the parent entity an impairment expense of $11,594,000 was recognised comprising 
$9,841,000 against commercial paper and $1,753,000 against securities (2007: nil). These losses were recognised in the income statement.
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10. Dividends

(a) Dividends paid on ordinary shares

	 	 	 pArent	entity

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

Fully franked final ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2007 of 1 cent 
(2006: 4 cents) per fully paid share paid on 29 September 2007    1,963 7,653

Fully franked interim ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2008 of 1 cent 
(2007: 10 cents) per fully paid share on 27 March 2008    1,966 19,188

Total dividends provided for or paid    3,929 26,841

Dividends paid in cash or satisfied by the issue of shares under the Perilya dividend 
reinvestment plan during the years ended 30 June 2008 and 2007 were as follows:  

 Paid/payable in cash    3,262 21,199

 Satisfied by issue of shares - see note (c)    667 5,642

      3,929 26,841

(b) Dividends not recognised at year end

Subsequent to the end of the financial year end the directors have decided against payment of a final dividend for the financial year ended 
30 June 2008. 

(c) Perilya Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Perilya Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) was approved by shareholders on 29 November 2006 and applies in respect of eligible dividends 
payable on participating shares at the record date of payment of the dividend. 

Participation in the DRP is optional and, to commence, amend or cease participation in the DRP, shareholders are required to complete and duly 
lodge the required application form by the date, and within the terms and conditions, set by the directors for the specified dividend. Shares issued to 
participants may be either new shares or shares acquired on market for transfer to participants.

In line with non-payment of a final dividend for the year ending 30 June 2008, as disclosed above, the directors have resolved to suspend the 
company’s DRP until further notice.

(d) Franked dividends

The franked portions of the dividends recommended after 30 June 2008 will be franked out of existing franking credits.

   conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $000 $000

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%)  60,137 68,585

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

(i) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax

(ii) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date, and

(iii) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

In line with the non-payment of a final dividend for the year ending 30 June 2008 there will be no reduction in the franking account balance disclosed 
above (2007: $842,000).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
30 June 2008
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11.  Remuneration of auditors
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and 
non-related audit firms:

(a) Assurance services

	 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $ $

Audit	services	 	

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm  

 Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the Corporations Act 2001  402,466 304,175

 Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firms for the audit or review of financial reports of any entity in the Group - 4,307

Total remuneration for audit services    402,466 308,482

Other	assurance	services	 	

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm  

 Controls assurance services    - 26,500

 Audit of regulatory returns    - 8,000

 Accounting advice on potential acquisitions    87,905 7,500

 Other services    - 23,000

Total remuneration for other assurance services    87,905 65,000

Total remuneration for assurance services    490,371 373,482

(b) Taxation services

	 	 	 conSolidAted

	 	 	 	 	 	 2008 2007
      $ $

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm  

 Tax compliance services    80,630 101,563

 Tax advice on potential acquisitions    24,295 43,450

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firm for the provision of tax compliance services to any entity of the Group 2,136 -

Total remuneration for taxation services    107,061 145,013

The Group employs PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where PricewaterhouseCoopers’ 
expertise and experience with the Group are important. These assignments are principally taxation services where PricewaterhouseCoopers 
acts as the Group’s taxation agent and in relation to provision of general corporate advice. It is the Group’s policy to seek competitive tenders 
for all major consulting projects.
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12. Events occuring after the balance sheet date

Broken Hill Operation resizing and closure of hedge book

On 21 August 2008, Perilya reported that it had completed an extensive review of its Broken Hill zinc, lead and silver operation and 
implemented a plan to resize the operation in light of current low metal prices. As a result of this review, Perilya has implemented a 
new production plan at its Broken Hill Operation, focused on a lower tonnage profile around mining remnant pillars and stopes with low 
development requirements in the Southern Operation. 

It was further decided that the North Mine and Potosi exploration decline be placed on care and maintenance. The new production plan and 
operational changes are aimed at ensuring the Broken Hill Operation maintains a production level that is financially acceptable and allows the 
operation to weather the current low metal prices. Furthermore, it positions the Broken Hill Operation to re-establish increased production and 
profitability in the future when metal prices increase.

A summary of the production and operational changes include: 

• A reduction in milled tonnage.

• Future ore production will focus on the utilisation of stopes that are currently available, or require minimal development, and the bringing 
forward of high grade pillars that were originally planned to be mined in the latter years of the Life of Mine Plan.

• Exposure to spot prices, with hedging restricted to QP hedging and the use of option contracts.

• Reduction in manning levels by approximately 440.

• Lower forecast capital and development expenditure for FY2009 and FY2010.

• Lower exploration expenditure within the Broken Hill region.

• Further cost reductions at the corporate head office.

As a result of the resizing of the Broken Hill Operation and the prevailing low metal prices environment, Perilya has, at 30 June 2008, written 
down the carrying value of its Broken Hill assets by $163,226,000 million. 

In conjunction with the resizing, Perilya closed-out its hedge book realising $60,314,000 in cash (net of payment of deferred option premiums). 
The hedge book was closed to realise its inherent financial value and to strengthen the company’s balance sheet during this period of low metal 
prices. The gains arising from the closure of the hedge book will be recognised over the FY2009 and FY2010 financial accounts, in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policy.

Restricted cash

After balance date, bank guarantees backing existing rehabilitation performance guarantees in place with relevant state governments expired and 
were required to be replaced by cash backed facilities. To meet this requirement Perilya placed an additional $14,275,000 into restricted cash. 

Sale of Mount Oxide copper assets

On 11 September 2008, the company announced that it had entered into a Heads of Agreement with Chalice Gold Mines Limited (Chalice) to 
acquire 100% of Perilya’s interest in the Mount Oxide copper project for consideration of $25,000,000. Under the terms of the agreement, 
Perilya will receive 200 million shares in Chalice (at its current cash backed price of 12.5 cents per share) and, through this shareholding in 
Chalice, Perilya shareholders retain a 73% interest in the Mount Oxide project.

The acquisition of Perilya’s Mount Oxide project by Chalice and the issue of the Chalice shares in consideration are subject to certain conditions 
precedent, including mutual due diligence, Chalice shareholder and other regulatory approvals. As at the date of this report the sale remains 
subject to these conditions precedent. 

Borrowings

On 26 September 2008, the company repaid $10,000,000 in short-term borrowings.

Dividend declarations

As disclosed in note 10, subsequent to the end of the financial year the directors have decided against payment of a final dividend for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
30 June 2008
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The directors declare that in their opinion, the concise financial report of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2008 as set out on 
pages 46 to 60 complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2008. The financial statements and specific 
disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived from the full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial position and 
financing and investing activities of the consolidated entity as the full financial report, which is available on request.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

Patrick O’Connor  
Executive Chairman

Perth, Western Australia 
30 September 2008

Directors declaration
30 June 2008
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of perilyA limited
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Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited listing rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out 
below. The information was applicable as at 24 September 2008.

Distribution of equity securities

   siZe of holding (ordinAry shAres) number of number of number of unlisted
   shAreholders unlisted optionholders performAnce rights holders

Less than 1,000 1,495 - -
1,001 to 5,000 3,529 - -
5,001 to 10,000 1,476 - -
10,001 to 100,000 1,378 1 6
More than 100,000 123 3 -

TOTAL  8,001 4 6

Substantial Shareholders

An extract of the company’s register of substantial shareholders (who held 5% or more of the issued capital) is set out below:
   shAreholder  number of shAres percentAge held %

AXA Asia Pacific Holdings Limited  20,775,248 10.56
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd  13,290,799 6.75

Top 20 Shareholders

The top 20 largest shareholders are listed below:
   shAreholder  number of shAres percentAge held %

ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C>  37,579,687 19.09
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  19,509,289 9.91
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  14,952,095 7.59
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  12,667,985 6.43
National Nominees Limited  6,649,536 3.38
CPU Share Plans Pty Limited <Perilya Employee Share Acquisition Plan>  5,455,037 2.77
Argo investments Limited  2,020,000 1.03
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited A/C 2  1,739,480 0.88
Mr Andrew Tsang  1,721,289 0.87
Neweconomy com au Nominees Pty Ltd  1,614,604 0.82
Mr Leonard Stanley Jubber  1,500,000 0.76
Yandal Investments Pty Limited  1,500,000 0.76
Mr Eric Arthur Hopgood + Mr Owen William Hopgood  1,366,000 0.69
M Kerry Morgan  1,070,000 0.54
Mr Shuchuan Liao  1,000,000 0.51
Pegmont Mines Limited  1,000,000 0.51
Krystal Holdings Pty Ltd <Shar Super Fund AC>  917,139 0.47
Plato Prospecting Pty Ltd  750,000 0.38
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited GSI ECSA  743,121 0.38
Mr William Gordon Martin and Mrs Beverley Michelle Martin <Chemco Super Fund>  700,000 0.36

TOTAL   114,455,262 58.13

ASX additional information

voting rights

Ordinary	shares

For all ordinary shares, voting rights are on a show of hands whereby 
every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll, each share shall have one vote.

Options

There are no voting rights attached to options.

Performance	Rights

There are no voting rights attached to performance rights.

Unlisted share options

The company has 2,050,000 employee options on issue with exercise 
prices between $0.88 and $4.32 per shares, issued in accordance with the 
Employee Share Option Plan approved by shareholders in November 2006. 

Unlisted performance rights

The company has 166,700 performance rights on issue, issued 
in accordance with the Long Term Incentive Plan approved by 
shareholders in October 2007.

Other information

Perilya Limited is incorporated and domiciled in Australia and is a 
publicly listed company limited by shares.
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